

Nova Southeastern University NSUWorks

HCNSO Student Theses and Dissertations

HCNSO Student Work

12-7-2018

Peruvian Pinnipeds as Archivists of ENSO Effects

Mickie Rae Edwards me489@nova.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://nsuworks.nova.edu/occ_stuetd Part of the <u>Marine Biology Commons</u>, and the <u>Oceanography and Atmospheric Sciences and</u> <u>Meteorology Commons</u>

Share Feedback About This Item

NSUWorks Citation

Mickie Rae Edwards. 2018. *Peruvian Pinnipeds as Archivists of ENSO Effects*. Master's thesis. Nova Southeastern University. Retrieved from NSUWorks, . (495) https://nsuworks.nova.edu/occ_stuetd/495.

This Thesis is brought to you by the HCNSO Student Work at NSUWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in HCNSO Student Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of NSUWorks. For more information, please contact nsuworks@nova.edu.

Thesis of Mickie Rae Edwards

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science

M.S. Marine Biology

Nova Southeastern University Halmos College of Natural Sciences and Oceanography

December 2018

Approved: Thesis Committee

Major Professor: Amy C. Hirons, Ph.D.

Committee Member: Michael Adkesson, D.V.M. DACZM

Committee Member: David Kerstetter, Ph.D.

Committee Member: Alexander Soloviev, Ph.D.

HALMOS COLLEGE OF NATURAL SCIENCES AND OCEANOGRAPHY

Peruvian Pinnipeds as Archivists of ENSO Effects

By: Mickie Rae Edwards

Submitted to the Faculty of Halmos College of Natural Sciences and Oceanography in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science with a specialty in

Marine Biology

Nova Southeastern University

December 2018

LIST OF FIGURES	iv
LIST OF TABLES	vi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vii
ABSTRACT	viii
INTRODUCTION	1
Preface	1
Peruvian Marine Ecosystem	3
El Niño- La Niña- Southern Oscillations	5
Peruvian Pinnipeds	8
Peruvian Fur Seals	9
South American Sea Lions	12
Stable Isotope Ratios	15
METHODS	18
Permits	18
Sample Collection	18
Laboratory Analyses	20
Statistical Analyses	21
RESULTS	22
ENSO Conditions	22
Vibrissae	24
Peruvian Fur Seal Population	25
Peruvian Fur Seal Males	
Peruvian Fur Seal Females	
Peruvian Fur Seal Male/Female	41
Peruvian Fur Seal Dam/Pup Pairs	45
South American Sea Lion Male	45
Sympatric Species	48
DISCUSSION	51
Sea Surface Temperature Anomaly	51
Peruvian Fur Seal ($\delta^{13}C$)	52
Peruvian Fur Seal ($\delta^{15}N$)	54

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Peruvian Fur Seal Dam-Pup Pairs	57
Peruvian Fur Seal Males and Females	36
South American Sea Lions	58
Sympatric Species	58
Conclusions	59
Future Research	61
LITERATURE CITED	62
APPENDIX	82
Appendix A. Sea Surface Temperature Plots and Tables	83
Appendix B. Vibrissae Plots (Peruvian Fur Seal)	85
Appendix C. Vibrissae Plots (South American Sea Lion)	154
Appendix D. Vibrissae Tables	160

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Map of the Punta San Juan Reserve and its beaches, relative to its location in Peru and South America. Red square shows the region of coastal waters of El Niño index 1+2 region. (Map adapted from Cárdenas-Alayza 2012)
Figure 2. Coastal region current circulation (Checkley et al. 2009). The study site, Punta San Juan, Peru was located at 15°22' S, 75°11' W
Figure 3. Sea surface temperature (SST) anomaly time series for Nino index 1+2 from 2000-2017 (NOAA_ERSST_V5 data provided by the NOAA/OAR/ESRL PSD). Positive anomalies represent warm periods (El Niño) and negative anomalies cold periods (La Niña)
Figure 4. Peruvian fur seal population δ^{13} C (blue) and δ^{15} N (red) in parts per thousand (‰), 2004-2016
Figure 5. Peruvian fur seal male δ^{13} C (blue), δ^{15} N (red) and female δ^{13} C (purple), δ^{15} N (pink) in parts per thousand (‰), 2004-2016
Figure 6. Principal component analysis of mean Peruvian fur seal population vibrissae δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N and sea surface temperature anomaly factored by year (2004-2016)30
Figure 7. Male Peruvian fur seal δ^{13} C (blue) in comparison to sea surface temperature anomaly (orange) (°C), 2004-2016
Figure 8. Male Peruvian fur seal δ^{15} N (red) in comparison to sea surface temperature anomaly (orange) (°C), 2004-2016
Figure 9. Principal component analysis of mean male Peruvian fur seal δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N and sea surface temperature anomaly (°C) factored by year (2004-2016)
Figure 10. Mean female Peruvian fur seal (n=47) δ^{13} C (blue) in comparison to sea surface temperature anomaly (orange) (°C), 2005-2015
Figure 11. Mean female Peruvian fur seal (n=47) δ^{15} N (red) in comparison to sea surface temperature anomaly (orange) (°C), 2005-2015

Figure 12. Principal component analysis of mean female Peruvian fur seal δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N and sea surface temperature anomaly (°C) factored by year (2005-2015)40
Figure 13. Mean δ^{13} C for 17 male (blue) and 47 female (purple) Peruvian fur seal vibrissae and sea surface temperature anomaly (°C), 2004-2016
Figure 14. Male versus female Peruvian fur seal mean δ^{15} N 17 male (red), 47 female (purple) and sea surface temperature anomaly (°C), 2004-2016
Figure 15. Principal component analysis of male (blue="M") and female (red="F") Peruvian fur seal whisker δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N signatures (2011 and 2012 pulled whisker samples), 2004-2012
Figure 16. Principal component analysis of South American sea lion male mean δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N and sea surface temperature anomaly (°C) factored by year (2004-2011)47
Figure 17. Principal component analysis with trajectory of mean male δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N and sea surface temperature anomaly factored by year (2005-2011) from Peruvian fur seal and South American sea lion vibrissae
Figure 18. Peruvian fur seal mean δ^{13} C (blue) relative to sea surface temperature anomaly (°C), 2004-2016
Figure 19. Peruvian fur seal mean δ^{15} N (red) relative to sea surface temperature anomaly (°C), 2004-2016
Figure A-1. Sea surface temperature versus sea surface temperature anomaly (°C) from 1+2 Nino index, 2004-2016 (NOAA_ERSST_V5 data provided by the NOAA/OAR/ESRL PSD)
Appendix Figure B-1 - B-69. Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N85
Appendix Figure C-1 – C-6. South American sea lion vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N154

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Total number of pinniped vibrissae analyzed in this study, including yearsampled, mean vibrissae length, and associated gender and species. Aa = Arctocephalusaustralis unnamed ssp., Ob = Otaria byronia
Table 2. Vibrissae Data (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) whiskers sampled from (2010 to 2016) health assessments
Appendix Table 3. Monthly Sea Surface Temperature Averages from Nino Index 1+2 Region (Years 2000 to 2016). Blue=cold phase ENSO, Red=warm phase ENSO (NOAA_ERSST_V5 data provided by the NOAA/OAR/ESRL PSD)
Appendix Table 4. Minimum, maximum, range, and mean δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (‰) in Peruvian fur seal (<i>Arctocephalus australis</i> unnamed ssp.) vibrissae, Punta San Juan, Peru, 2010-2016.Gender (M=Male, F=Female) and Age Class (AD=Adult, PUP=Pup)160
Appendix Table 5. Minimum, maximum, range, and mean of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (‰) in South American sea lion (<i>Otaria byronia</i>) vibrissae, Punta San Juan, Peru, 2011. Gender: M=Male, Age Class: AD=Adult, SA=Sub adult

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I extend my thanks to my committee members, Drs. Amy C. Hirons, Michael Adkesson, Alexander Soloviev and David Kerstetter, for all their extensive support and guidance during this project. Additional thanks go to Susana Cárdenas, María José Ganoza, Marco Cardeña, Juan Carlos and a multitude of volunteers with the Punta San Juan (PSJ) Program for field assistance, observational data, and continual collection efforts. My appreciation goes to the lab members and volunteers, especially Jennifer Coley, Mya Daniels-Abdulahad, Taylor Hames, and Megan Foley, of the Charismatic Megafauna and Oceanography Lab for their assistance in lab processing. Pilar Ferdinando, Sarah Gumbleton, Ashton Galarno, Samantha King and Dr. Christopher Blanar provided suggestions for statistical design and interpretation. I would also like to extend my gratitude to Dr. Christine France from the Smithsonian Institution's Museum Support Center for stable isotope analyses; the Chicago Zoological Society and the Punta San Juan Conservation Consortium for financial support of pinniped field research and associated field operations costs. Lastly, thanks to my loving family, especially my mother, Phyllis Edwards, and friends who have supported me during my Master's degree. I dedicate this Master's thesis in honor of my father, Michael Allen Edwards.

Funding for this research was provided by Nova Southeastern University's President's Faculty Research and Development Grant (PFRDG) to Dr. Amy C. Hirons. Additional field funding for field work was provided by the South Florida Chapter of the Explorers Club. We acknowledge the Peruvian governmental agencies SERNANP for access inside the RNSIIPG-Punta San Juan reserve and oversight of research activities, as well as AGRORURAL for use of field facilities. All samples were collected in accordance with permits Resolución Jefatural No. 009-2010-, No.023-2011-, No. 022-2012-, No. 008-2015-, and 019-2016-SERNANP-RNSIIPG issued by the Peruvian National Service of Natural Protected Areas and the Peruvian Ministry of the Environment.

ABSTRACT

Environmental fluctuations in the eastern Pacific Ocean are reflected in the tissues of some of its most vulnerable apex predators, the Peruvian fur seal (PFS) Arctocephalus australis ssp. and the South American sea lion (SASL) Otaria byronia. These large pinnipeds live in sympatry along the Pacific coastline of South America and forage within the neritic waters over the continental shelf. The coastal waters off Peru are a region of great environmental fluctuations due to periodic, oscillating El Niño- La Niña-Southern Oscillation (ENSO) events, which result in ecosystem-wide food web changes. Pinniped vibrissae (whiskers) are continuously growing keratinous tissues and reflect the incorporation of prey from the region. Fine resolution sampling along their length provided trophic information on a weekly to monthly time scale over several years. Vibrissae were obtained from 2010-2016 from female (n=47), male (n=17) and newborn pup (n=6) fur seals and male (n=6) sea lions collected during pinniped rookery health assessments. Stable isotope ratios (δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N) in vibrissae infer temporal primary production and dietary variations in individuals. ENSO conditions were dictated by the sea surface temperature anomaly (SSTA) recordings from the Niño 1+2 Index region over 12 years. Fluctuations in vibrissae δ^{15} N were correlated to varying SSTA readings (p<0.001) in both species, indicating that ENSO conditions may alter the foraging of these apex predators over time. Anomalous warm phase temperatures corresponded to depleted $\delta^{15}N$ (p<0.001); whereas, cold phase anomalous conditions corresponded to the most enriched δ^{15} N signatures (p<0.001). Although both male and female PFS vibrissae δ^{13} C revealed minor fluctuations ranging from -18.13 to -13.17‰ over the 12-year period, δ^{13} C did reveal a significant depletion and enrichment oscillation during specific points in time, such as the 2014-2016 El Niño event, which ranged from -15.09 to -13.83‰ (p=0.040). Stable isotope signatures varied between genders, but not by species. Female fur seal stable isotope signatures were significantly more depleted in both δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N than males (p<0.001, p<0.001, respectively). Male SASL and PFS showed no significant difference between mean stable isotope signatures. In PFS, both δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N were inversely correlated to each other from 2014 to 2016; this was during the strongest El Nino-Southern Oscillation event on record (p=0.002). As δ^{13} C signatures became more enriched, δ^{15} N signatures depleted from 2014 until 2016. This suggests that when ENSO warm phase conditions occur, the environments resources change in historic foraging grounds, possibly forcing pinnipeds to travel farther distances offshore to forage or altering what they feed on throughout these stressful conditions. This study serves to help understand of the impact of oceanographic influences on these pinnipeds. ENSO conditions influence the trophic dynamics and resultant survival adaptations in both of these vulnerable Peruvian marine mammals.

Key words: South American sea lion \cdot Peruvian fur seal \cdot Stable isotope ratios \cdot Peru \cdot ENSO \cdot $\delta^{13}C$ \cdot $\delta^{15}N$

INTRODUCTION

Preface

Large-scale climatic anomalies associated with periodic, alternating El Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO) conditions, are recorded globally through a combination of atmospheric and oceanic teleconnections, resulting in significant, ecosystem-wide impacts (Ropelewski & Halpert 1987, Trenberth et al. 1998, McPhaden et al. 2006, Sulca et al. 2017). The Humboldt Current Upwelling Ecosystem, a cold, nutrient-rich coastal current that supports ecologically and economically important species, is dramatically impacted by strong ENSO events (Barber & Chavez 1983, Niquen & Bouchon 2004). In Peru pinnipeds such as the Peruvian fur seal and the South American sea lion forage along and within the Humboldt Current and feed predominantly on anchoveta (Vásquez 1995, Zavalaga et al. 1998, Arias-Schreiber 2000, 2003). Peruvian anchoveta comprise the largest single-species fishery in the world, although it experienced severe stock collapses during the 1982/83, 1997/98 and the recent 2015/16 ENSO events (Alheit & Niquen 2004, Niquen & Bouchon 2004, Espinoza-Morriberon et al. 2017). South American pinniped mortality events and anchoveta abundance declines coincided with these ENSO periods, though no definitive cause for these mortality events have been determined (Arias-Shreiber & Rivas 1998, Cardenas-Alayza 2012).

Both Peruvian pinniped species are vulnerable during these strong magnitude ENSO episodes. The feeding ecology and movements of these pinnipeds are of substantial interest as ENSO events continue to intensify in both frequency and magnitude (Sepúlveda et al. 2014). Through a combined analysis of stable isotope profiles and abiotic recordings from Niño indices, the feeding ecologies of two sympatric species of otariid were investigated in Punta San Juan, Peru (Figure 1) over a time series of various ENSO conditions. Stable isotopes were used to depict the trophic fluctuations of both seal and sea lion individuals and their populations. Abiotic recordings from the Niño 1+2 index (Figure 1) are reflective of environmental changes due to alternating ENSO conditions along the coast of Peru. By using continuously growing, inert vibrissae (whiskers) from Peruvian pinnipeds (i.e., apex predators), it is possible to obtain valuable multi-year dietary information from their foraging environment across fluctuating environmental conditions (i.e., overlapping multiple ENSO events).



Figure 1. Map of the Punta San Juan Reserve and its beaches, relative to its location in Peru and South America. Red square shows the region of coastal waters of El Niño index 1+2 region. (Map adapted from Cárdenas-Alayza 2012).

Peruvian Marine Ecosystem

The coastal marine ecosystem along the arid margin of western South America is supported by the Humboldt Current System (HCS), one of the world's four major eastern boundary upwelling systems (EBUS) and the largest meridional extent of all EBUSs, ranging from 4 to 42° S (Berger 1988, Strub et al. 1998, Daneri et al. 2000, Vargas et al. 2007). Eastern boundary currents form highly productive regions due to strong air-sealand physical interactions (Berger 1988, Strub et al. 1998). The productive waters along this coast are the result of longshore winds, which bring cold, nutrient-rich waters from the Equatorial Subsurface waters (ESSW) into the euphotic zone where they are available for primary producers (Sverdrup 1938, Wooster 1963, Huyer et al. 1987, Berger 1988, Strub et al. 1998, Vargas et al. 2007, Bakun et al. 2015).

The coastal margin off western South America is symmetrically sinuous though the width of the continental shelf is variable - narrow off Ecuador, wider off Peru, and then narrow again off northern Chile - which affects how upwellings occur along the coastline. Additionally, due to their low-latitude proximity, the coast of Peru experiences a weakened Coriolis Effect, which allows for persistent, equatorward winds that drive larger Ekman transport and upwelling than other regions found at higher latitudes with similar wind patterns (Strub et al. 1998). The near-coast, northward flowing HCS comprises the surface and subsurface flows of the EBCS along the Peruvian coast. The HCS hosts several major currents, among them are two equatorward-flowing and two poleward-flowing currents, each having a surface and subsurface flow, respectively. The offshore, equatorward flow is the Humboldt Current and the nearshore equatorward flow comprises the Peru-Chile Coastal Current. The poleward surface-flowing current is the Peru-Chile Countercurrent while the poleward subsurface-flowing current is the Peru-Chile Undercurrent (Karstensen & Ulloa 2009). The linkage of the coastal and equatorial upwelling regions extends to the poleward undercurrent and the offshore Peru-Chile Countercurrent, both of which receive input from the Equatorial Undercurrent and extend from the tropics to the mid-latitudes of Chile (Figure 2) (Bakun et al. 2015).

Powered by the southeast trade winds, which blow equatorward and parallel to the coast at a speed of 3-10 m/s, coastal upwelling in the HCS is continuous with little variability in normal (i.e., average) climatic states (Huyer et al. 1987, Tarazona & Arntz



Figure 2. Coastal region current circulation (Checkley et al. 2009). The study site, Punta San Juan, Peru was located at 15°22' S, 75°11' W.

2001, Pennington et al. 2006, Espinoza-Morriberon et al. 2017). Resultant phytoplankton blooms from these nutrient-rich waters nourish productive zooplankton communities that feed small pelagic fish populations, such as anchovy and sardine, that are vital to the world's fisheries (Chavez et al. 2003, Weise et al. 2006, Barth et al. 2007, Bakun et al. 2015). A substantial portion of animal biomass in the HCS is comprised of these small, pelagic planktivorous fish species, making coastal Peru a vital fishery ecosystem, which supports approximately 20% of the world's fish catches (Chavez et al. 2003, Bakun et al. 2015). Historical evidence of pelagic fish and apex predator abundances, such as during the 1982/83 ENSO event, illustrate how these fish populations control the trophic dynamics of marine mammals and sea birds (Schwartzlose et al. 1999, Bakun et al. 2015).

Approximately every 2-7 years, the Humboldt Current Upwelling Ecosystem is impacted by El Niño phases, which experience increased sea surface temperatures and reduced primary productivity due to stratified waters. This stratification of waters is believed to directly influence the depth distribution and abundance of the Peruvian anchovy (Barber & Chavez 1983, Huyer et al. 1987, Luna-Jorquera & Culik 2000). Ecosystem productivity in coastal ocean upwelling systems is threatened due to increased frequency and intensity of ENSO events. Apex predators, such as marine mammals and sea birds that cluster at key rookery sites and nesting grounds, experience difficulties in prey acquisition in response to intensifying climatic anomalies (Bakun et al. 2015).

El Niño- La Niña- Southern Oscillations

The eastern Pacific Ocean is subject to strong environmental fluctuations in the form of alternating El Niño-Southern Oscillation (ENSO) events. El Niño-Southern Oscillations are alternating cycles of warm and cold sea surface temperature (SST) in the tropical central and eastern Pacific Ocean which can last upwards of 18 months with reoccurrence approximately every 2-7 years (Gutierrez et al. 2007, Taylor et al. 2008, Grandi et al. 2012). ENSO events are classified by magnitude and are quantified using sea surface temperature anomalies (SSTA) in degrees Celsius (i.e., temperatures that are not within average conditions) (Oliveira 2011). Sea surface temperatures off the coast of Peru have seasonal dependent averages, acknowledged as "normal conditions" for that time of year. Anomalies are deviations from the average conditions for that period and

are anything greater than +/-1° C (Waluda et al. 2006, Grandi et al. 2012). Magnitudes of ENSO range from Weak (+/-1 to 1.5°C) to Extreme (+/-2.5 to 3.0° C) (Waluda et al. 2006, Grandi et al. 2012). Regional average SST anomaly data are collected within Niño indices that are compiled from buoy recordings from specific regions (Trenberth & Stepaniak 2001). Currently, five indices are monitored in the tropical Pacific Ocean; these include the Niño 1+2 (10° S-0°, 80-90° W) (Figure 1), Niño 3 (5° S5° N, 90-150° W), Niño 3.4, also known as the Oceanic Nino Index (ONI) (5° S-5° N, 120-170° W), Niño 4 (5° S-5° N, 150° W-160° E) and Trans- Niño Index (TNI) which is the difference in normalized SST anomalies between the Niño 1+2 and Niño 4 regions (Trenberth & Stepaniak 2001, Yu & Lau 2007, Kao & Yu 2009, Kug & Jin 2009, Trenberth 2016). The Niño 3.4 Index (ONI) is the most commonly used index to define ENSO events; however, the Niño region along the South American coastline is the Niño-1+2 region. The Niño 1+2 region is the smallest and eastern-most of the indices, and it tends to have the largest variance of all the Niño SST indices (Trenberth & Stepaniak 2001).

The warm SST phase of ENSO is referred to as El Niño and the cooler SST phase is known as the La Niña. The precursor to ocean temperature changes begins when the southeast trade winds weaken over the equatorial Pacific Ocean, which allows for the eastward displacement of the warm pool, thereby decreasing the upwelling strength of cold, nutrient-rich water (Barber & Kogelschatz 1990, Picaut et al. 1996). Under such decreased upwelling, the surface waters along the coasts of Peru, Ecuador, and Chile are instead warmer and relatively nutrient-poor (Taylor & Wolff 2007, Oliveira 2011). El Niño events can increase SST in the central and eastern Pacific Ocean by up to 9° C, resulting in depleted surface chlorophyll (Chavez et al. 2003, Arntz et al. 2006, Graco et al. 2007, 2017). Eventually, a renewal in the southeast trade winds pushes the warmer surface waters towards the central Pacific basin, thus resuming the upwelling of coastal waters along the coast of South America (Barber & Kogelschatz 1990).

In contrast with El Niño, La Niña events are evidenced by shallow thermoclines, cooler than average sea surface temperatures, and increased marine productivity (Ordinola 2002a, 2002b). Physical indications of La Niña events include unusually cold temperatures in the central and eastern equatorial Pacific Ocean, stronger than normal easterlies (i.e., westward blowing trade winds), stronger upwelling, and conditions that

are generally more arid. La Niña impacts on HCS ecosystems are still unclear; however, higher commercial landings and greater fishery exports occur during these events (Ordinola 2002a, 2002b).

Pronounced bottom-up mechanisms, which decrease primary production, occur off the coast of Peru during El Niño events (Tam et al. 2008, Espinoza-Morriberon et al. 2017). Among these mechanisms are downwelling equatorial Kelvin waves (deepening nearshore thermocline and nutricline), changes in equatorial circulation, and high intensity mesoscale eddies (increasing offshore transport and subduction of nutrients) (Barber and Chavez 1983, Kessler and McPhaden 1995, Chaigneau et al. 2008, Lathuiliere et al. 2010, Gruber et al. 2011, Calienes 2014, Echevin et al. 2014). However, throughout La Niña events, the coastal ecosystem encounters intensified upwelling favorable winds, cooler SST, shallow thermo- and nutriclines, and increased primary production (Bouchon and Pena 2008, Calienes 2014).

Chlorophyll concentrations (Chl_a), which are a proxy for phytoplankton biomass, were recorded at historic lows during strong/extreme El Niño events (i.e., the 1997/1998 event) (Calienes 2014, Gutierrez et al. 2016, Espinoza-Morriberon et al. 2017). During these events of SST and sea level rise, the thermocline and nutricline deepen significantly. In conjunction, the passing of coastal-trapped waves cause the nutrient concentration in coastal waters to decrease. Impact on nutrient concentrations and upwelling strength is dependent on the magnitude of the ENSO events (Espinoza-Morriberon et al. 2017).

Eight El Niño-Southern Oscillation events had been recorded from 1950-2003 (Wang & Feidler 2006) with the 1982/83 and the 1997/98 events considered to be the most severe (Gutierrez et al. 2007, Taylor et al. 2008). NOAA (2015) speculated 2015/16 would be a strong magnitude El Niño event, which proved to be correct. In fact, the 2015/16 ENSO event is by some measures (i.e., SSTA); one of the strongest magnitude events on record, and it has triggered widespread ecosystem changes, such as strong decreases in phytoplankton productivity within the coastal Pacific Ocean (Jacox et al. 2016, Espinoza-Morriberon et al. 2017). Climate change models are predicting stronger and more frequent ENSO events in the future (NCDC-NOOA 2004, Oliveira 2011). Inter-annual environmental fluctuations are frequently observed in the highly unpredictable marine environments off the coasts of South America; these cyclical fluctuations in turn affect all types of marine organisms throughout the ecosystem, often changing the trophic dynamics of large areas of the ocean. Shifts in available food, beginning with primary producers, have long-ranging implications both for commercial fisheries and for apex predators like Peruvian fur seals and South American sea lions. The higher the trophic level at which the animal feeds, the more production becomes necessary to sustain it. During periods of lower productivity, environments become resource limited, which can have damaging effects on reproduction and species viability (Benson & Trites 2002, Hanson et al. 2009, Coyle et al. 2011).

Peruvian Pinnipeds

South America was once a source of significant trade for pinniped blubber and fur throughout the 18th century. Targeted hunting and trade decimated South American otariid species' (sea lions and fur seals) historical population sizes by nearly 80% by the late 20th century (Bonavia 1982, Reeves et al. 1992, Riedman 1990, Webber et al. 2004). By the mid-1940s, South American fur seal distribution range in Peru had been reduced to a few isolated sites (Kostrisky 1963, Piazza 1969, Majluf & Trillmich 1981, Muck and Fuentes 1987, Cardenas-Alayza 2012). Much like fur seals, South American sea lions suffered heavy direct exploitation during the early 20th century throughout their range due to the commercial uses of pinnipeds for fur, oil and food (Rodriguez & Bastida 1998, Oliveira 2011, Dassis et al. 2012, Saporiti et al. 2014, Zenteno et al. 2015). With a recognized risk of pinniped extinction in Peru, legislation in 1959 banned all sealing in Peruvian waters in an effort to save these pinniped species, although some illegal poaching continues (Majluf 1984, Oliveira 2011, Cardenas-Alayza 2012). However, despite protection Peruvian populations have struggled to recover to previous population sizes due to ecological and anthropogenic stressors (Majluf & Apaza 1998, Majluf 1998, Oliveira 2011).

Home to the largest colonies of Peruvian fur seal and South American sea lion, Punta San Juan is a 133-acre peninsula located in southern Peru, 15° S of the equator Cárdenas-Alayza & Cardeña-Mormontoy 2012). This reserve is part of a marine protected network of reserves known as the National Reserve System of Guano Islands, Islets and Points (RNSIIPG). The RNSIIPG, managed by the National Service of Protected Natural Areas of Peru (SERNANP), serves as a protection to all marine wildlife with a focus on the protection of guano producing sea birds (Cárdenas-Alayza & Cardeña-Mormontoy 2012). Among the 21,000 individuals along their entire distribution range, over 70% of the total PFS population is found in Peru clustered into the RNSIIPG system, with the majority found in Punta San Juan, Peru (Cárdenas-Alayza & Oliveira 2016).

Peruvian Fur Seals

Peruvian fur seals (Arctocephalus australis unnamed ssp.) (PFS), a subspecies of the South American fur seal (SAFS), are found along the eastern Pacific coastline of South America (Berta & Churchill 2012, Oliveira & Brownell 2014, Cárdenas-Alayza & Oliveira 2016). Distributed between breeding colonies and haul-out areas, fur seals can be found year-round at coastal sites due to their strong site-fidelity (Majluf 1987a, Oliveira 2011, Cardenas-Alayza 2012). Females will travel distances of 70 to 150 km in order to forage, whereas males will travel an average of 200 km (Cardenas-Alayza & Oliveira 2016). Fur seal colonies are ordinarily found along rocky coastlines, on ledges, in caves, and around beaches covered in large boulders so that they can utilize the ocean access, tidal pools, shade and protection these environments provide (Stevens & Boness 2003). Geographical isolation between breeding colonies has led to the genetic variation between the South American fur seal and the Peruvian fur seal (Berta & Churchill 2012, Nyakatura & Bininda-Emonds 2012, Oliveira & Brownell 2014). Additionally, the 1997/98 ENSO caused such a severe decline in effective population size that it might have compromised the evolutionary potential of the Peruvian fur seal to respond to environmental changes (Oliveira et al. 2006). Distribution of these genetically isolated subspecies ranges from Peru southward into northern Chile, with approximately 21,000 individuals along this distribution (Torres 1985, Guerra & Torres 1987, Oliveira et al. 2012, IMARPE 2014). The majority of the breeding population resides in Peru between 15-17° S; over 50% of the entire Peruvian fur seal population is only found among five sites in Peru (Cárdenas-Alayza & Oliveira 2016). Population declines and fewer breeding colonies have led to classification of the Peruvian fur seal as

"Vulnerable" species in the International Union for Conservation of Nature red list (IUCNRL) (Oliveira & Brownell 2014, CSA-UPCH 2016, 2017, 2018).

Both fur seal subspecies are sexually dimorphic (Cárdenas-Alayza & Oliveira 2016, Oliveira et al. 2005, 2008). Adult Peruvian fur seal males reach lengths of 1.7 m and can weigh between 90–140 kg, while females are approximately 1.3 m in length and weigh between 30-90 kg. Newborn pups are 50-65 cm in length and weigh 3.5-7.5 kg (Cárdenas-Alayza & Oliveira 2016). Peruvian subspecies males are smaller in body size than that of SAFS males while conversely, PFS females are larger in body size than SAFS females (Cárdenas-Alayza & Oliveira 2016, Oliveira et al. 2005, 2008).

The life history of PFS varies between genders, where adult bull males become sexually mature at approximately 8 years old, in contrast to females who become sexually mature as early as 4 years old (Lima & Páez 1995, 1997, Vales et al. 2015). Adult bulls are polygynous and territorial; in fact only a few large, strong bulls out of the total population mate each season (Cardenas-Alayza et al. 2016). In Punta San Juan, bulls will occupy territories for an average of 23 days and mate with 6-20 females within their territory (Majluf 1987a, Cappozzo 1995, Cárdenas-Alayza & Oliveira 2016). Breeding season for Peruvian fur seals takes place during austral summer between the months of October and December (Majluf 1987a). The gestation duration is normally 11 months, with a 3 to 4-month embryonic diapause (Vaz Ferreira et al. 1982a, Katz et al. 2013). Pupping peaks during mid- to late November (Majluf 1992, Cardenas-Alayza 2012). Pregnant females normally come ashore roughly 1-4 days before the birth of the pup and then stay with the newborn pup for a perinatal period lasting around 11 days (Franco-Trecu 2010). After this period, fur seal dams enter a brief estrus, copulate, and then depart to sea to forage (Majluf 1987b, Cardenas-Alayza 2012).

Following mating, females alternate between foraging trips at sea between 1-8 days and then suckling pups in the rookery for 1-3 days, food source availability depending (Majluf 1987b, Cardenas-Alayza 2012). Throughout the initial three months of maternal care, female foraging trip durations are highly variable, which can affect the survivability of offspring (Franco-Trecu et al. 2010). The seals tend to have flexible and adaptive pup rearing strategies, such as flexible weaning duration, to accommodate for environmental stressors (i.e., ENSO events), (Trillmich & Ono 1991). Prolonged,

simultaneous maternal care of multiple offspring at various life stages has enhanced survival of Peruvian fur seals during mild ENSO events, and can explain extraordinary growth rates of fur seals when food sources are in abundance (Trillmich et al. 1986, Cárdenas-Alayza 2012). Dams wean offspring anywhere between 6 months to 3 years of age and can nurse multiple-aged offspring simultaneously. Female fur seals have been observed nursing both a newborn pup and a yearling, and on rare occasion, nursing a pup, yearling, and a 2 to 3 years old juvenile (Majluf 1987a). This cumulative maternal contribution generates enormous metabolic needs and can lead to competition for milk among suckling young, with a risk of starvation for all as well spontaneous abortion of a fetus (Trillmich 1990, Cardenas-Alayza 2012).

In 1987, the Punta San Juan, Peru rookery experienced its highest recorded early pup mortality percentages (31-49%); other rookeries experienced anywhere from 3 to 28% early pup mortality (Majluf 1987b, 1989, Harcourt 1992). This early pup mortality in Peru does not appear to be related to food availability, except for during ENSO conditions when mortality increases dramatically (Limberger et al. 1983, Trillmich et al. 1986, Majluf 1989, Harcourt 1992). El Niño years have a negative impact on these seals, causing females to spend extended durations foraging at sea, upwards of 20 days, which affects offspring growth and survival (Trillmich et al. 1986, Majluf 1987b). Adult females reveal patterns of site fidelity for pupping and are known to give birth within 20 m of a previous birth site (Gentry & Holt 1986, Majluf 1987b, Lunn & Boyd 1991, Harcourt 1992). This strong site fidelity makes both pups and adult females more vulnerable to environmental changes and anthropogenic influences that occur at rookery sites (Gentry & Holt 1987b, Lunn & Boyd 1991, Harcourt 1992).

Fur seal nourishment varies with prey source abundance and location; their diet is comprised of fish, crustaceans and mollusks. Peruvian fur seals are specialized foragers; their main prey sources include anchoveta (*Engraulis ringens*), red squat lobster (*Galathea squamifera*), and cephalopods (Vasquez 1995, Zavalaga et al. 1998, Arias-Schreiber 2000, 2003). However, other pelagic and demersal fish species like sardines (*Sardinops sagax*), mote sculpin (*Normanichthys crockeri*), chub mackerel (*Scomber japonicus*), Pacific jack mackerel (*Trachurus symmertricus*) and lanternfish species (*Myctophidae*) are consumed in smaller proportions (Arias-Schreiber 2003).

Additionally, a study by Vales et al. (2015) revealed that demersal and benthic prey are rarely in male fur seal diets.

Fishermen frequently complain that fur seals damage their nets and reduce their catches, especially in gillnet fisheries (Arias-Schreiber 1993, 2003), although studies by observers of artisanal fisheries in northern Chile never registered interaction with this species (Sepulveda et al. 2007, Bartheld et al. 2008). Fishermen have been known to occasionally kill fur seals with shotguns, harpoons, dynamite, and poison (Arias-Schreiber 1993). Arias-Schreiber (1993) reported that it is common for some fishermen to kill and use pinnipeds as bait to catch saltwater snails or winkles in Peru. Bycatch mortality is present from fishing nets also entangle and kill fur seals that are transiting between land and their feeding grounds (Majluf et al. 2002). Mortalities are also recorded in the Punta San Juan area due to hooks used by longline fisheries during the 2015-2016 ENSO (Colchao-Claux 2016). The overall impact of intentional and incidental fur seal mortality related to fishery activities is unknown. Additionally, industrial fishing fleets along the coast of Peru threaten the pelagic resources on which fur seals depend. These fisheries started in the 1950s and contributed to several declines in biomass of anchoveta upon which the fur seals depend on as their primary prey source (Pauly & Tsukayama 1987, Pauly & Palomares 1989).

South American Sea Lions

South American sea lions (*Otaria byronia*) reside along the South American coastlines from Brazil to Peru, including coastal islands like the Falkland and Galapagos islands (Vaz-Ferreira 1982b, Alonso et al. 2000, Dans et al. 2004, Perrin et al. 2009, Dassis et al. 2012). These sea lions are considered a non-migratory species, although individuals make seasonal movements away from rookeries abandoned over winter months (Pinedo 1990, Rosas et al. 1994). South American sea lions have two significant genetic differentiations between the Pacific and Atlantic coast populations due to prolonged geographical isolation (Gehara 2009, Committee on Taxonomy 2015). The species is monitored along its entire range around South America and its population status is of Least Concern (Túnez et al. 2007, Gehara 2009, Oliveira & Brownell 2014, Cardenas-Alayza et al. 2016), although, after the 1997/98 100% pup mortality event, sea lions along Peru were classified as "Vulnerable" by the Peruvian government,

contradictory to the IUCN red list "Least Concern" classification (Oliveira 2011). The total population of South American sea lions is estimated at 445,000 individuals along its entire distribution, with the Peruvian population estimated at approximately 105,000 (IMARPE 2013, Cardenas-Alayza et al. 2016).

South American sea lions are sexually dimorphic with females reaching lengths of 2 m and weighing up to 170 kg, while males can reach 3 m and weigh upwards of 350 kg (Vaz-Ferreira 1982b, Rosas et al. 1993, Cappozzo & Perrin 2009, Perrin et al. 2009, Grandi et al. 2012, Riet-Sapriza et al. 2013). Sexual maturity is reached at approximately 4-5 years for females and 4-7 years for males (Vaz-Ferreira 1982b, Perrin et al. 2009, Grandi et al. 2012). Congregations of sea lions on rookeries occurs in early December for breeding and pupping, with breeding seasons lasting into late February (Sepúlveda et al. 2007, Perrin et al. 2009). The gestation period for this species lasts for approximately one year; pups are born in January and nursed for 8-12 months (Vaz-Ferreira 1982b, Perrin et al. 2009). Newborn pups weigh between 11-15 kg and are 75-85 cm long. (Vaz-Ferreira 1975). Following the birth of the pup, female sea lions generally breed within one week (Soto et al. 2004). Therefore, mature females can be in a perpetual state of pregnancy and nursing, both metabolically taxing processes. Successful foraging on energetically rich prey is key to the survivability of this species; extreme environmental fluctuations such as strong inter-annual ENSO events can place these sea lions in jeopardy.

South American sea lions are considered a neritic species and are commonly found foraging in the shallower water over the continental shelf and slope (Vaz-Ferreira 1982b, Campagna et al. 2001, Crespo et al 2007, Hückstädt et al. 2014). Females with nursing pups spend 53% of their time foraging at sea and the rest at rookeries or haul out sites (Perrin et al. 2009). However, diet and maternal care patterns suggest inter-annual fluctuations in food availability. In the variable Peruvian upwelling ecosystem, females adjust their diets and maternal attendance patterns in response to changes in the abundance and distribution of prey (Soto et al. 2006). During ENSO events when prey are less abundant near the rookeries, female sea lions are observed spending less time onshore nursing and more time foraging at sea. As a result, the fasting ability of pups was exceeded, causing higher mortality rates due to starvation (Soto et al. 2004, 2006).

Female sea lions primarily feed in shallow, coastal waters on benthic species, whereas males tend to feed predominantly on demersal-pelagic species (Crespo et al. 1997, Koen Alonso et al. 2000, Campagna et al. 2001, Drago et al. 2009). Female dives are typically shallow (19-60 m), and their dive profiles are flat-bottomed, indicating extended foraging at specific depths (Campagna et al. 2001). This dive profile pattern may be due to the shallow thermocline (< 50 m) found in the waters off the coastline of Peru during the normal state of upwelling (Morales et al. 1999). Male sea lions spend more time at sea than females, approximately 4-9 days versus 1-4 days, and travel greater distances, up to 300 km for males compared to 200 km for females. Considering the maximum width of the continental shelf along northern Peru is 130 km, it could be assumed that some sea lions may be foraging in pelagic waters off the continental shelf as well further north and south along the shelf (Vaz-Ferreira 1982b, Alonso et al. 2000, Campagna et al. 2001). Distinctions between foraging habits of male and female sea lions are not constant over time and are exemplified during pre-breeding periods (Drago et al. 2009, 2015). During this time, both males and females increase their consumption of pelagic prey versus benthic prey, although prey preference between males and females does not overlap This indicates that during the pre-breeding season, when areas around the rookeries are crowded and resource availability declines, sexual foraging segregation still takes place but normal foraging behavior is altered (Drago et al. 2015).

South American sea lions are considered generalist foragers that feed on a variety of prey which varies with geographical location. Prey types include benthic and pelagic fish, squid, crustaceans, birds, and, on rare occasions, marine mammals (Vaz-Ferreira 1982b, Harcourt 1993, Alonso et al. 2000, Soto et al. 2006, Perrin et al. 2009). A small percentage of subadult and adult male South American sea lions regularly attack, kill and eat South American fur seal pups, juveniles and sometimes, although rare, adult females in Peru (Harcourt 1992, 1993).

Little is known about the specific foraging habits of the sea lions along the Peruvian coast, and although they are known to feed on Peruvian anchoveta when the waters are rich in nutrients and highly productive, they are known to be generalist foragers. Besides targeted anchoveta prey consumption, Peruvian sea lions prey upon mote sculpin, lumptail sea robin, Peruvian hake, red squat lobster, and cephalopods (Paredas & Arias-Schreiber 1999). During an ENSO event when anchoveta and squat lobster were not in high abundance, a larger diversity of prey species, particularly demersal fishes, were consumed. This indicates that when target prey are less available, sea lions respond to variation in prey abundance and accessibility by modifying their diet (Muñoz et al. 2011, Sepúlveda et al. 2015). Conversely, even though this species has been observed modifying forage habits, this seems to have little effect on their survival during strong enough ENSO events. With little known about the region's trophic structure during the productivity-challenging phases of El Niño, this leaves this species vulnerable to increased frequency and strengthened ENSO events in the future (Soto et al. 2004, 2006, Hückstädt et al. 2007).

Sea lions along the Peruvian coastline suffer frequent population declines due to prey loss during inter-annual-ENSO events (Grandi et al. 2012). The Peruvian sea lions suffered massive losses during the 1997/98 El Niño event with the population declining approximately 81% from 144,000 individuals in 1996 to 28,000 in 1998 (Arias-Schreiber & Rivas 1998, Arias-Schreiber 1998, Grandi et al. 2012, Oliveira 2011). This decline was most likely due to a combined effect of both mortality and dispersal from historically surveyed breeding and haul out sites. This strong magnitude ENSO (1997/98) also caused 100% pup mortality during the pupping season (Soto et al. 2004). Increases in foraging time have been linked to lower prey availability (Womble et al. 2014). Consistent with decreased prey availability, female Peruvian sea lions' forage trips lasted 10 to 20 days during an El Niño versus the usual 1 to 4 days, which presumably contributed to starvation of nursing pups (Oliveira 2011).

Stable Isotope Ratios

Stable isotopes are forms of the same elements that have an increased atomic mass due to the addition of one or two extra neutrons in the nucleus. Dissimilarities in the relative abundance of the light isotope (fewer neutrons) and heavy isotope (more neutrons) can be measured and expressed as a ratio, which is reported as parts per thousand (‰) (Fry 2006The stable carbon (¹³C/¹²C) and nitrogen (¹⁵N/¹⁴N) isotope ratios in an organism's tissue can be used to investigate their trophic ecology (DeNiro & Epstein 1978, 1981, Kelly 2000, Bearhop et al. 2002). Stable isotope studies are a valuable implement for examining the life history, diet, and habitat use in marine

mammals (Peterson & Fry 1987, Kelly 2000). In fact, Hobson et al. (1997), Hirons (2001), Kurle and Worthy (2001), and Hückstädt et al. (2007) have all demonstrated that phocid and otariid tissues reflected trophic dynamics in their respective waters utilizing δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N. Pinniped tissues can be used as biological recorders for temperature, salinity, and pH as well as being indicators of feeding history, trophic level, and metabolic rate (Peterson & Fry 2016).

Marine environments contain stable isotope ratios of carbon (${}^{13}C$ / ${}^{12}C$ or $\delta^{13}C$), which result from fractionation differences originating at the base of the food web. Stable carbon experiences a small fractionation generally less than 1‰ during assimilation; and therefore, carbon signatures can be used to trace the importance of different carbon pools to a consumer or determine the source of carbon at the base of the food web (O'Leary 1981, France 1995, Gannes et al. 1998, Kelly 2000). Variations in $\delta^{13}C$ values are indicative of plants (i.e., phytoplankton, algae) utilizing either the C₃, C₄, or crassulacean acid metabolism (CAM) photosynthetic pathways (DeNiro & Epstein 1978). An animal's diet and the primary production at the base of the food web, as well as geographic variability, can be detected in $\delta^{13}C$ (DeNiro & Epstein 1978, Hirons et al. 2001, Dehn et al. 2007, Newsome et al. 2007).

Marine environments contain naturally occurring stable nitrogen isotope ratios ($^{15}N/^{14}N$ or $\delta^{15}N$), which provide information on potential food sources as well as trophic position. Throughout assimilation of proteins, ^{14}N is preferentially used due to its lighter nature, which increases the ratio of ^{15}N to ^{14}N in the tissues of the consumer relative to its food source (Gannes et al. 1998), creating a step-wise enrichment of 3-5‰ per trophic level (DeNiro & Epstein 1981, Fry 1988, Hobson et al. 1997). The comparison of consumer tissue $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ with those of their potential prey items provide information regarding food web linkages and ocean productivity (France & Peters 1997, Hirons 2001, Kurle & Worthy 2001). Pinnipeds are apex predators; this requires them to eat more prey items to sustain themselves, thus making them susceptible to changes in food web production. Periods when production is very high or very low alters the length of the food webs and may change the trophic level of the marine mammals' prey. The comparison of pinniped $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ with their potential prey items provides information regarding food web linkages and ocean productivity as well as geographic

location (Polovina et al. 1995, France & Peters 1997, Hirons 2001, Kurle & Worthy 2001).

Vibrissae (whiskers) are continuously growing, inert tissue composed of proteinaceous keratin (Rubenstein and Hobson 2004, Hall-Aspland et al. 2005). Metabolically inert tissues preserve information from the moment they develop, thereby allowing the study of dietary change (Darimont et al. 2002, Bearhop et al. 2004, Hall-Aspland et al. 2005, Rosas-Hernandez 2018). The most recent growth of a whisker is located at the base, and a single whisker can provide one or more years of information, making this tissue suitable for various types of foraging studies (Rubenstein and Hobson 2004, Lewis et al. 2006, Hirons 2001, Hirons et al. 2001, Ginter et al. 2012, Rosas-Hernandez 2018). While there are currently no published data on the growth rates of South American fur seal and South American sea lion vibrissae, otariids show great variability in their whisker growth rates, ranging from 0.02 to 0.16 mm/day in adults. This highlighting the importance of assessing growth rates on a species to species basis (Mote-Herrera 2011, Kernaleguen 2012, Kernaleguen 2015, McHuron et al. 2016, Rosas-Hernandez 2018). Some Otariidae species evaluated for whisker growth rates include Antarctic fur seal (Arctocephalus gazella), Steller sea lion (Eumetopias jubatus), California sea lion (Zalophus californianus) and the northern fur seal (Callorhinus ursinus) (Hirons et al. 2001, Cherel et al. 2009, Rea et al. 2015, Kelleher 2016, McHuron et al. 2016).

Stable nitrogen and carbon isotope ratios (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) were used to evaluate the impact the environment has on the seals' diet on a time scale represented along the vibrissae. The δ^{13} C indicated the changes in primary production, likely due to changes in upwelling strength, in foraging locations within that individual's environment (Fry 1988, Hobson et al. 1997), while the δ^{15} N revealed changes in the length of the marine food web (Minigawa & Wada 1984, Hobson et al. 1997, Hirons 2001). The δ^{15} N can detect shifts in the trophic levels of marine organisms, which, in tandem with δ^{13} C, is an indication of periods of very low or high production (Fry & Sherr 1984, Hobson & Welch 1992, Hirons 2001). Since δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C can define differences in foraging locations and trophic levels, we can relate inter-annual variability of the ecosystem, such as an ENSO event, to the respective time-periods along the whisker (Lowther & Goldsworthy 2011).

METHODS

Permits

All samples were collected following methods approved under research permits Resolución Jefatural No. 009-2010-, No.023-2011-, No. 022-2012-, No. 008-2015-, and 019-2016-SERNANP-RNSIIPG issued by the Peruvian National Service of Natural Protected Areas (Spanish acronym SERNANP) and the Peruvian Ministry of the Environment (Spanish acronym MINAM). SERNANP. Personnel of the Punta San Juan Program and the Chicago Zoological Society collected all tissue samples.

Sample Collection

Vibrissae were collected annually between the years 2010 and 2016 as part of population health monitoring program at the Punta San Juan guano reserve (PSJ) in the province of Ica in southern Peru (15°22' S, 75°11' W) (Figure 1). This reserve is one of the largest Peruvian fur seal and sea lion rookeries in Peru, serving as an ideal location to assess both of these pinniped populations. Animals were anesthetized for sample collection under the supervision and direction of Dr. Michael Adkesson of the Chicago Zoological Society.

Veterinarians removed Peruvian fur seal whiskers from live animals every November/December during 2010, 2011, 2012, 2014, 2015, and 2016 (Table 1). Vibrissae from twenty-nine adult female fur seals were collected and analyzed in 2010. Six adult male and six adult female fur seal vibrissae (n=12) were analyzed in 2011, and in 2012 five male and six adult female fur seal vibrissae (n=11) were analyzed for stable carbon and nitrogen isotope ratios. Vibrissae from six mother (dam)-pup pairs (n=12) were analyzed in 2015 and in 2016 vibrissae from six adult males were analyzed. Vibrissae from six subadult male South American sea lions, a sympatric species to the Peruvian fur seal within this rookery, were collected in February/March 2011. Table 1. Total number of pinniped vibrissae analyzed in this study, including year sampled, mean vibrissae length, and associated gender and species. Aa = Arctocephalus australis unnamed ssp., Ob = Otaria byronia.

SPECIES	SAMPLE YEAR	TOTAL N	LENGTH x ± SD; cm	FEMALE N	MALE N	PUP N
Aa	2010	29	11.73 ± 2.69	29	-	-
	2011	12	15.21 ± 4.24	6	6	-
	2012	11	12.79 ± 2.61	6	5	-
	2015	12	8.21 ± 2.75	6	-	6
	2016	6	10.33 ± 1.92	-	6	-
Ob	2011	6	17.33 ± 4.60	-	6	-

Laboratory Analyses

Pinniped vibrissae (whiskers) were scrubbed using a scrubbing pad and rinsed with deionized water to remove any surface contaminants. Once thoroughly dried at 60° C for at least 24 hours, whiskers were cut into 2.5 mm sections from base to tip, each section representing 0.6-0.8 mg, and placed in individual tin capsules. Approximately 20 samples were analyzed per vibrissae, using alternating segments as pseudo-replicates in case of loss during mass spectrometer analysis. All vibrissae techniques followed the methods of Hirons (2001). Samples were combusted and analyzed for δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N at the Smithsonian Institution's Museum Conservation Institute (Suitland, MD) using a Thermo Delta V Advantage mass spectrometer in continuous flow mode coupled to a Costech 4010 Elemental Analyzer (EA) via a Thermo Conflo IV (CF-IRMS). A set of standards were run for every 10-12 samples. The standards included USGS40 and USGS41 (L-glutamic acid) as well as Costech acetanilide. All samples and standards were run with the same parameters; this included an expected reproducibility of the standards < 0.2‰ (1 σ) for both δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N. Stable isotope values were expressed in terms of δ and were reported relative to the standard reference material, Vienna Pee Dee Belemnite (VPDB) standard for δ^{13} C and atmospheric air (N₂) for δ^{15} N.

Stable isotope values were reported with the standard parts per thousand notation (‰):

 $\delta = [R_{sample} \ / \ R_{standard} - 1] \ * \ 1000$

Environmental data such as sea surface temperature (SST) and sea surface temperature anomaly (SSTA) were obtained from the National Oceanographic and Atmospheric Administration's (NOAA) Teleconnections ENSO website (http://www.cpc.ncep.noaa.gov/data/indices/sstoi.indices). NOAA_ERSST_V5 data were obtained from NOAA/OAR/ESRL PSD, Boulder, Colorado, USA, (https://www.esrl.noaa.gov/psd/). Sea surface temperature anomaly (SSTA) (° C) was used as our proxy for ENSO conditions. Data were collected from Extended Reconstructed Sea Surface Temperature (ERSST.v5) dataset which is a global, monthly SST analysis derived from the International Comprehensive Ocean-Atmosphere Dataset (ICOADS). The ERSST.v5 dataset includes information from modern buoy observation, Argos-profiling CTD floats, global drift buoys like ICOADS R3.0 (from R2.5), and Hadley Centre Ice-SST version 2 (HadISST2) sea ice concentration (Huang et al. 2014, Liu et al. 2014, Huang et al. 2015, Huang et al. 2017).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical evaluations were done on the Peruvian fur seal population, which included both males and females, a gender differential evaluation of the PFS, PFS mompup pairing evaluation, and a species differential evaluation between male Peruvian fur seal and male South American sea lion. Descriptive statistics for vibrissae data, including range, mean and standard deviation for stable isotope values, were calculated using Microsoft Excel (v. 14.7.2; Microsoft Corporation). Using the statistical package R, both covariance and correlation were calculated between δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N, δ^{13} C and SSTA for 1+2 region, and δ^{15} N and SSTA for 1+2 region for both species and gender. Pearson's correlations were used when the parametric assumptions were met; however, some nonparametric correlations, for sample sizes greater than 30, (Kendall's tau correlation) were used when datasets were unable to be transformed to meet the parametric assumptions. Covariances were assessed to detect how changes in SSTA were associated with changes in vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N. Correlations tested the strength of relationships between the stable isotope ratio of the vibrissae and ENSO conditions, SSTA. An independent twosample t-test tested the overall difference in stable isotope signatures between adult male and female PFS. A paired two-sample t-test compared the dam-pup pairings' δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N. In JMP (v. 12.1.0; SAS Institute Inc.) An analysis of variance (ANOVA) for each stable isotope assessed species and gender effect while a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was used to assess the effect of SSTA on the δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N in vibrissae for both species and genders. PRIMER (v. 7.0.13; PRIMER-e, Quest Research Limited) software was used to conduct all additional analyses including a non-parametric one-way analysis of similarity (ANOSIM) test was used to evaluate the differences between both stable isotope values (2004-2016) with varying SSTA using Euclidean dissimilarity. The significance level for all tests was established at $\alpha = 0.05$.

RESULTS

ENSO Conditions

The Niño 1+2 region is the smallest and eastern-most of the Niño regions (0-10°S, 90°W–80°W), developed to understand the effects of ENSO on the coast of Peru (Figure 1). The 1+2 index shows the largest variance of all the Niño indices. Figure 3 chronicles the ENSO cycle for the 1+2 Nino Index from 2000-2017. Sea surface temperature anomalies (SSTA) are the departure from average SST conditions from the top 0.01 mm of ocean surface. SSTA readings between -0.5 to 0.5° C are a classified ENSO Norm, average SST conditions. SSTA readings classified beyond ENSO Norm are as follows: ± 0.5 -1°C (weak), ± 1 -1.5°C (moderate), ± 1.5 -2°C (strong), ± 2 -2.5°C (very strong), $\pm > 2.5$ °C (extreme). Positive anomaly readings reflect the warm phase El Niño periods while the negative anomalies reflect the cool phase La Niña periods. These oscillations reveal frequent, variable ENSO conditions over the past 17 years, with more pronounced cool phase conditions from 2000 until 2014 and warm phase conditions dominated through 2017 (Figure 3). The overall trend of SSTA has increased over 1°C from 2000 through 2017 in correspondence to more frequent and increasingly stronger ENSO events.



Figure 3. Sea surface temperature anomaly (SSTA) time series for Nino index 1+2 from 2000-2017 (NOAA_ERSST_V5 data provided by the NOAA/OAR/ESRL PSD). Positive anomalies represent warm periods (El Niño) and negative anomalies represent cold periods (La Niña).

Vibrissae

Seventy-six individual pinniped vibrissae were sampled, 70 Peruvian fur seals *Arctocephalus australis* unnamed ssp. and 6 South American sea lions *Otaria byronia*. Adult female fur seals had the highest number of collected individuals (N=47), followed by adult male PFS (N=17), PFS pups (N=6), and subadult SASL (N=6). The sample years included 2010 (N=29), 2011 (N=18), 2012 (N=11), 2015 (N=12), and 2016 (N=6) (Table 1).

Hobson et al. (1997), Hirons (2001), Kurle and Worthy (2001), and Hückstädt et al. (2007) have all demonstrated that otariid tissues can reflect trophic dynamics and production in their respective waters utilizing δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N. Stable nitrogen isotope ratios (δ^{15} N) detect shifts in trophic levels while stable carbon isotope ratios (δ^{13} C) indicate low or high production due to carbon source in foraging location (Fry & Sherr 1984, Hobson & Welch 1992, Hirons 2001). Since δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N represent specific time periods related to vibrissae growth, these values and their meaning can be related to interannual SSTA in the ecosystem.

The most recent vibrissa growth is located at the base of the whisker, and an individual whisker can represent several years' growth (Hirons 2001, Hirons et al. 2001, Ginter et al. 2012). The vibrissae growth rate used for both pinniped species in this study was based on Kelleher's (2016) northern fur seal growth rate of 0.09 mm/day. Each 2.5 mm segment in an analyzed vibrissa represented approximately 28 days. With an average of 12.31 ± 3.28 cm in length for adult PFS whiskers, individual whiskers represented 45.6 ± 12 months (3.8 ± 1 years) on average. By analyzing monthly means of individual seals' isotopic signatures, a mean for both δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N can be acquired on a monthly scale for the overall population. Across all the sampled vibrissae, a total of 12 years' stable isotope data were recorded.

Vibrissae are metabolically inert tissues that preserve dietary information from the moment they develop. Segmented vibrissae can, therefore, provide a series of isotopic signatures that can be correlated to time of growth. This allows for the evaluation of changes in assimilated prey nutrients over time (Darimont et al. 2002, Bearhop et al. 2004, Hall-Aspland et al. 2005, Rosas-Hernandez 2018). The period represented by the vibrissa from base (the most recent growth) to tip (the oldest growth) was then nested

with monthly sea surface temperature anomaly averages. The nesting of SSTA monthly averages with associated dates along a vibrissa allowed for the evaluation of abiotic conditions with vibrissae stable isotope values.

Peruvian Fur Seal Population

Of the 70 Peruvian fur seals sampled, 67% were reproductively mature, adult females, 24% were adult males, and 9% were pups with unidentified genders. The vibrissae stable isotope data from individuals are summarized in Table 4 and individual vibrissa figures are located in Appendix B. All fur seal vibrissae had δ^{13} C values that ranged from -18.13 to -13.17 ‰ with a mean of -14.31 ± 0.31‰ and δ^{15} N that ranged from 15.83 to 22.31‰ with a mean of 19.08 ± 0.83‰.

Similar oscillating patterns were observed in both isotope ratios across all vibrissae lengths; however, male fur seals had consistently more enriched δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N than females. The δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N monthly means from 47 adult female and 17 adult male PFS vibrissae, representing 2004-2016, showed covarying oscillations until 2015 (Figure 4). Both δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N exhibited an average decline (0.6‰ and 2.2‰, respectively) from 2004-2009 but in the course of one year (mid-2010 to mid-2011), δ^{15} N returned to the enriched values of ca. 2006 while δ^{13} C continued to become 0.3% more depleted until late spring of 2011. PFS signatures from 2011 to late 2014 showed a nearly identical, δ^{15} N decline to those values exhibited by seals from 2004-2009. However, from 2015 through 2016, an inverse stable isotope pattern arose throughout the portion of the population sampled. In the span of 11 months (mid-2015 to mid-2016), δ^{13} C increased 0.9‰ and then declined 0.7‰ while δ^{15} N declined 1.3‰ and then increased 2.1‰. Both male and female fur seal vibrissae exhibited nearly identical mean stable isotope patterns, but male fur seals exhibited more enriched values than females in both stable isotopes by up to 0.5‰ (δ^{13} C) and 1.5‰ (δ^{15} N) (Figure 5). Both periods (2010-2011, 2015-2016) corresponded to a moderately strong, persistent La Niña phases (ca. 3+ years) followed by an abnormally extended warm period, each approximately 3-4 years in duration (Figure 3).

Peruvian fur seal δ^{13} C (Figure 4) exhibited minor fluctuations from 2004 to 2009 (-14.08 to -13.59‰ (Δ 0.49‰)); however, δ^{13} C was highly variable from 2010 through 2016 (-15.09 to -13.80‰) (Δ 1.29‰). Additionally, from late 2015 through 2016, δ^{13} C

resembled those previously recorded in 2004-2009, where δ^{13} C ranged -14.46 to -13.80‰ ($\Delta 0.66$ ‰). The δ^{13} C values from 2010-2014 were the most depleted (-14.42 ‰) and had the largest range, -15.09 to -13.91‰ ($\Delta 1.18$ ‰) across all years of the study.

In contrast to the PFS δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N had much larger fluctuations (Figure 4). From late 2004, the earliest stable isotope data recorded, through 2009, δ^{15} N decreased 2.41‰. The δ^{15} N ranged from 18.40 to 20.81‰. Following this nearly six-year gradual depletion in δ^{15} N, a rapid, approximately 2‰ enrichment, occurred between 2010 and 2011, after which the δ^{15} N returned to levels recorded in previous years (ca. 2004/2005). Figure 4 shows a gradual decline of 4.35‰ in δ^{15} N starting from 20.84‰ and decreasing to 16.49‰ which took place from the beginning of 2012 until 2016. Data from the remainder of 2016 showed a steep enrichment from 17.00 to 18.56‰ (Δ 1.56‰).

A Kendall's tau correlation assessed the relationship between ever-changing SSTA and PFS stable isotope signatures across all 12 years from November 2004 through 2016. PFS mean δ^{13} C did not correlate with SSTA over the 12-year period (p=0.301). However, δ^{13} C signatures did significantly correlate with SSTA over a shorter period of 7-years, 2009 through 2016 (p=0.040). A one-way ANOVA revealed that population δ^{13} C did not significantly change with fluctuating SSTA (p=0.140). An ANOVA also showed no relationship between population δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (r= 0.266 and p=0.301). A significant inverse correlation existed between the mean δ^{15} N and SSTA (r=-0.254 and p<0.001). Warmer temperature anomalies correlated to more depleted δ^{15} N signatures. PFS whisker δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N did not correlate over the entire 12-year period (p=0.081). Pearson's correlation coefficient showed δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N were significantly inversely correlated during the 2014-2016 ENSO event (p=0.002).


Figure 4. Peruvian fur seal population δ^{13} C (blue) and δ^{15} N (red) in parts per thousand (‰), 2004-2016.



Figure 5. Peruvian fur seal male $\delta^{13}C$ (blue), $\delta^{15}N$ (red) and female $\delta^{13}C$ (purple), $\delta^{15}N$ (pink) in parts per thousand (‰), 2004-2016.

Principal component analysis (PCA) of PFS male and female (population) δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N and SSTA factored by year revealed a grouping of years 2014, 2015 and 2016 (Strong to Extreme ENSO condition years) compared to all other years evaluated (Figure 6). According to the angle of the vectors, δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N, as well as δ^{13} C and SSTA are not strongly correlated variables (~90°); however, δ^{15} N and SSTA are negatively correlated variables (>180°). The circle is used for the vector lengths demonstrating whether variables were represented enough in the data in order for properly infer relationships between variables; all variables in this PCA were equally represented. The vectors of this PCA indicated a strong correlation between stable isotope signatures with increasing SSTA during 2015 and 2016.

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) revealed a significant correlation between increasing SSTA and depleted $\delta^{15}N$ (P<0.001). A one-way ANOVA revealed a significant correlation (p<0.001) between $\delta^{15}N$ and ENSO phase (i.e. cold, norm, warm SST); greater variation in SSTA and most depleted $\delta^{15}N$ occurred during warm phases while cold phases had consistently enriched $\delta^{15}N$. Increasing magnitude of ENSO conditions (i.e. weak, moderate, strong, very strong, extreme) revealed significant correlation to depleted $\delta^{15}N$, where strong, very strong and extreme magnitude conditions were all below PFS population mean $\delta^{15}N$ of 19‰, whereas norm, weak and moderate magnitudes of ENSO conditions all varied at or slightly above the mean PFS population $\delta^{15}N$ (p=0.009).

A one-way analysis of similarity (ANOSIM), testing differences in mean vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N with SSTA factored by year revealed a significant difference between years (p=0.001; r=0.467), indicating stable isotopes did vary with SSTA among years. A year-to-year comparison revealed that 2015 and 2016 were significantly distinct from 2005 through 2014 (p=0.001 to 0.006, r=0.566 to 0.981).



Figure 6. Principal component analysis of mean Peruvian fur seal population vibrissae δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N and sea surface temperature anomaly factored by year (2004-2016).

Peruvian Fur Seal Males

Vibrissae stable isotopes from adult male fur seals spanned a total of 12-years (2004-2016); vibrissae were collected in 2011, 2012, and 2016. A Kendall's tau correlation revealed that male δ^{15} N were significantly inversely correlated to SSTA (r= - 0.292 and p<0.001), while δ^{13} C was not (r= -0.107 and p=0.084). However, a Kendall's tau correlation between δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N revealed a significant correlation between the two stable isotopes (r=0.227 and p=0.002); as δ^{13} C became enriched, δ^{15} N became more enriched. Male δ^{13} C ranged (Figure 7) between -14.16 and -13.44‰ from November 2004 until mid-2011; at that time a single δ^{13} C decrease of 0.67‰ occurred during a 4-month period. Proceeding this unusual drop, δ^{13} C rebounded back to -14.00‰ in one month followed by a depletion of 0.84‰ over a 20-month period. Vibrissae δ^{13} C from mid-2013 until early 2016 showed a steady enrichment of 1‰, until the latter part of 2016; δ^{13} C had not rebounded to values seen in earlier years (ca. 2004-2011), indicating that the environment was more depleted in δ^{13} C than seen in previous years.

Adult male δ^{13} C ranged ~2‰ from -15.16 to -13.17‰ with a mean -14.01 ± 0.26‰. Male δ^{15} N ranged ~6‰ from 16.18 to 22.31‰ with a mean 19.66 ± 0.89‰. Male PFS δ^{15} N were their most enriched in mid- 2006 (21.72‰) and most depleted in early 2016 (16.49‰), a total decline of 5.23‰ over ten years. Patterns of ~2‰ enrichment followed by a ~2‰ depletion seemed to be the natural trend of δ^{15} N for eight years (Figure 8). From late 2004 to mid-2006, a 2.04‰ enrichment occurred followed by a depletion of 2.82‰, which lasted until mid-2009; followed by an enrichment of 2.17‰ until early 2012. Following these oscillations, a steady decline of 4.58‰ occurred until early 2016 when a drastic increase of 2.07‰ in δ^{15} N occurred through 2016. However, even after this drastic enrichment, δ^{15} N was still 1.56‰ below the mean male vibrissae of 20.12‰.



Figure 7. Male Peruvian fur seal δ^{13} C (blue) in comparison to sea surface temperature anomaly (orange), 2004-2016.



Date

Figure 8. Male Peruvian fur seal $\delta^{15}N$ (red) in comparison to sea surface temperature anomaly (orange), 2004-2016.

Principal component analysis of PFS male mean δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N and SSTA factored by year (2004-2016) showed 2015 and 2016 were distinct from all other years (Figure 9). Similarly to the population PCA analysis, the angle of the vectors, δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N, as well as δ^{13} C and SSTA are not strongly correlated variables (~90°); however, δ^{15} N and SSTA are negatively correlated variables (>180°), and all variables were equally represented. The vectors of this PCA indicated distinct depletion in δ^{15} N with increasing SSTA and little variation in δ^{13} C, with exception to the years 2015 and 2016.

An ANOVA showed a significant correlation between increasing SSTA and decreasing δ^{15} N, and δ^{15} N enrichment with negative SSTA conditions (p<0.001). A one-way ANOVA of δ^{15} N by ENSO phase (i.e. cold, norm, warm) revealed a significant correlation (p<0.013). During warm phases, δ^{15} N was more depleted while δ^{15} N was consistently enriched during cold phases. The magnitude of ENSO event (SSTA) did not correlate to either δ^{13} C or δ^{15} N (p=0.573). Although δ^{13} C did not show a significant change with fluctuating SSTA, δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N were significantly correlated; as δ^{13} C became more enriched, δ^{15} N also became more enriched (p=0.008). An ANOSIM revealed a significant difference in δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N to relative to SSTA between years (p=0.001; r=0.507). Additionally, the years 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016 were different from 2004 through 2012 (p=0.001 to 0.006, r=0.566 to 0.981). Furthermore, 2013 and 2014 were significant difference from 2015 and 2016 (p=0.297).



Figure 9. Principal component analysis of mean subadult and bull male Peruvian fur seal δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N and sea surface temperature anomaly factored by year (2004-2016).

Peruvian Fur Seal Females

Approximately 11 years (2005-2015) of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N data were collected from 47 adult female vibrissae. Adult female δ^{13} C ranged from -18.13 to -13.19 ‰ with a mean -14.35 ± 0.33 ‰ while the δ^{15} N ranged from 15.83 to 21.55 ‰ with a mean 18.93 ± 0.85 ‰. A Kendall's tau correlation revealed a significant inverse correlation between δ^{15} N and SSTA readings (p=0.007 and r= -0.183), while δ^{13} C was not correlated to SSTA (p=0.272 and r=0.074). Unlike the male fur seals, adult females' stable carbon and nitrogen isotope values were not significantly correlated over the 11-year period (p=0.206 and r= -0.086).

Female δ^{13} C was most enriched in mid-2006 (-13.70‰) and the most depleted in late 2014 (-15.39‰), a change of 1.69‰ (Figure 10). During the span of one year, mid-2005 to mid-2006, δ^{13} C ranged 0.78‰. Smaller oscillations, less than 0.5‰, occurred from mid-2006 until mid-2010.A decline of 1.39‰ in mean δ^{13} C occurred from 2010 through 2014 followed by a nearly 1‰ enrichment (mid-2015) and was depleted by 0.70‰ the following month. Overall, female δ^{13} C decreased more than 1‰ between 2005 and 2015.

Female mean δ^{15} N values (Figure 11) revealed a five-year pattern that entailed a period of enrichment, followed by a period of depletion. This pattern repeated twice in all PFS vibrissae from 2005 to 2015. The most enriched mean δ^{15} N values occurred in May 2012 (20.68‰) followed by a gradual depletion to the most depleted values in October 2015 (17.37‰). The 5-year pattern was more pronounced from 2010 until 2015, δ^{15} N increasing 2.48‰ over two years and decreasing 3.31‰ in 3 years. This suggests that PFS females foraged within two or more trophic levels over several years.



Figure 10. Mean female Peruvian fur seal (n=47) δ^{13} C (blue) in comparison to sea surface temperature anomaly (orange) (°C), 2005-2015.



Figure 11. Mean female Peruvian fur seal (n=47) δ^{15} N (red) in comparison to sea surface temperature anomaly (orange) (°C), 2005-2015.

Principal component analysis of PFS female mean δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N and SSTA factored by year (2004-2016) revealed data from 2015 were different from the remaining years (Figure 12). Similarly to the population PCA analysis, the angle of the vectors, δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N, as well as δ^{13} C and SSTA are not strongly correlated variables (~90°); however, δ^{15} N and SSTA are negatively correlated variables (>180°), and all variables were well represented. The vectors of this PCA indicated distinct depletion in δ^{15} N with increasing SSTA, especially in the years 2014 and 2014, with little variation in δ^{13} C.

An ANOVA revealed a significant correlation between increasing SSTA and declining δ^{15} N, and δ^{15} N enrichment with below average SSTA conditions (P=0.003). The magnitude of ENSO events did not correlate significantly to PFS adult female stable isotope values (p=0.056); an ANOVA detected no significance between δ^{13} C and SSTA (p=0.512); additionally, δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N were not significantly in correlation (p=0.802). An ANOSIM testing for differences between years in recorded female whisker δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N in relation to SSTA, revealed a significant difference (p=0.001; r=0.431). A pairwise comparison of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N showed 2015 differed significantly from all other years (2004-2014) (p=0.001 to 0.036, r=0.484 to 0.947).



Figure 12. Principal component analysis of mean female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N and sea surface temperature anomaly factored by year (2005-2015).

Peruvian Fur Seal Male/Female

Principal component analysis between male and female PFS detected a separation between female and male isotope signatures (Figure 15). According to the angle of the vectors, δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N, as well as δ^{13} C and SSTA were positively correlated variables (<90°); however, δ^{15} N and SSTA are negatively correlated variables (>180°); all variables were equally represented. Males and females subjected to increasing SSTA, revealed more depleted δ^{15} N and more enriched δ^{13} C. Additionally, males revealed the most enriched signatures in comparison to females.

An independent two-sample t-test detected a significant difference in δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values of subadult male and adult female fur seal vibrissae for 2011 and 2012 (p<0.001 for both). Female fur seal δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N were significantly more depleted than male fur seals in both years (p<0.001 for both). A MANOVA for the combined effect of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N revealed a significant difference between genders (p=0.001, r=0.114); the mean male vibrissae δ^{13} C was -13.83‰ while the mean female vibrissae was -14.34‰ (Figure 13). The mean male vibrissae δ^{15} N (20.22‰) was 1.36‰ more enriched than the mean female vibrissae (18.86‰) (Figure 14).



Date

Figure 13. Mean δ^{13} C for 17 male (blue) and 47 female (purple) Peruvian fur seal vibrissae and sea surface temperature anomaly (°C), 2004-2016.



Figure 14. Male versus female Peruvian fur seal mean δ^{15} N 17 male (red), 47 female (purple) and sea surface temperature anomaly (°C), 2004-2016.



Figure 15. Principal component analysis of male (blue=M) and female (red=F) Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N from 2011 and 2012 vibrissae samples, representing 2004-2011.

Peruvian Fur Seal Dam-Pup Pairs

A vibrissa from each individual of six dam-pup pairs in 2015 were analyzed for δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N. The mean length of dam whiskers was 10.29 ± 2.2 cm and one-week-old pup whisker mean length was 6.13 ± 1.1 cm. A paired two-sample t-test revealed no significant difference between the 6 dam-pup pairings' δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (p=0.490, p=0.573, respectively), indicating pup whiskers represented growth in utero and reflected the maternal stable isotope values. An estimated one-week old PFS pup had a calculated whisker growth rate of 0.29 ± 0.05 mm/day. This growth rate was calculated by taking the length of each newborn whisker and dividing it by the active gestation period in which vibrissae are growing (~7 months). Gestation periods in PFS last 11 months (Hewer et al. 1968); PFS experience a 2-3 month diapause, followed by active gestation K. Colegrove & M. Adkesson, personal communication, 2018. Fetus whiskers begin to develop 2 months after early embryo gestation, followed by 6-7 months of active whisker growth in utero (Lerner et al. 2018, K. Colegrove & M. Adkesson, personal communication, 2018). The stable isotope data for the 7-month period matched for each dam-pup pair. The dam-pup pair's whiskers averaged $-14.79 \pm 0.28\%$ and $-14.82 \pm$ 0.29‰, respectively, for δ^{13} C, and $18.69 \pm 0.17\%$ and $18.59 \pm 0.11\%$ for δ^{15} N, respectively.

South American Sea Lion Male

Male SASL vibrissae had δ^{13} C values ranging from -14.38 to -13.43‰ with a mean of -13.43 ± 0.16‰ and δ^{15} N ranging from 15.95 to 22.82‰ with a mean of 20.06 ± 0.48‰. A principal component analysis of mean δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N and SSTA factored by year (2004-2011) showed no distinction among years analyzed (Figure 16). Similar to that of the PFS, the angle of the vectors, δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N, as well as δ^{13} C and SSTA are not strongly correlated variables (~90°); however, δ^{15} N and SSTA are negatively correlated variables (>180°). This PCA indicated depleted δ^{13} C and a range of δ^{15} N over the same year, with no differences among years, besides one outlier in 2011with enriched δ^{13} C.

An ANOVA evaluating the effect of δ^{15} N with changing SSTA revealed a significant correlation between increasing SSTA and depletion of δ^{15} N, and enrichment with below average SSTA conditions (p=0.002). A one-way ANOVA analysis evaluating δ^{15} N by ENSO phase (i.e. cold, norm, warm) revealed a significant correlation (p=0.003).

Whisker plots indicate depleted δ^{15} N with warmer phases and more enriched with colder phases. Magnitude of ENSO event did not correlate significantly to SASL male signatures (p=0.401). SASL δ^{13} C signatures did not reveal a significant change with fluctuating SSTA. A one-way ANOVA showed no correlation between δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N. A one-way ANOSIM testing differences between years revealed δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N varied relative to SSTA (p=0.001; r=0.304). The year 2009 was consistently the most diverse from all other years analyzed (2004 through 2011) (p<0.001; r=0.516 to 0.757.



Figure 16. Principal component analysis of South American sea lion male vibrissae mean δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N and sea surface temperature anomaly (°C) factored by year (2004-2011).

Sympatric Species

A PCA of SASL and PFS sub-adult males both sampled in 2011 evaluating mean δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N factored by year revealed differences between years 2005 to 2011 (Figure 17). According to the angle of the vectors, δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N were not strongly correlated variables (~90°); both variables were equally represented. This PCA revealed a trajectory of years from 2005 until 2011 in PFS (red) and SASL (blue), which went in different directions over the same years indicating slight variation between these species isotope signatures by year.

No significant difference was found between SASL and PFS male δ^{13} C and SSTA (p=0.889). A MANOVA of δ^{15} N for PFS and SASL versus SSTA revealed that SASL δ^{15} N signatures were more correlated to ENSO phase (p=0.013) than in PFS (p=0.003). Warm phase ENSO conditions had the most depleted δ^{15} N, and cold phases had the most enriched δ^{15} N in both species. ENSO condition magnitude; however, did not significantly correlate with SASL and PFS male signatures (p=0.401 and p=0.542; respectively).



Figure 17. Principal component analysis with trajectory of mean male δ^{13} C, δ^{15} N and sea surface temperature anomaly factored by year (2005-2011) from Peruvian fur seal and South American sea lion vibrissae.

Species	Age Class	Gender	Ν	δ ¹⁵ N Vibrissae Data		δ ¹³ C Vibrissae Data	
				X ± SD (‰)	Range (‰)	X ± SD (‰)	Range (‰)
Aa	Pup	Unknown	6	18.59 ± 0.47	17.74 to 19.44	-14.11 ± 0.24	-15.72 to -14.11
	Adult	Male	17	19.66 ± 0.89	16.18 to 22.31	-14.01 ± 0.26	-15.16 to -13.17
	Adult	Female	47	18.93 ± 0.85	15.83 to 21.55	-14.35 ± 0.33	-18.13 to -13.19
Ob	Subadult	Male	6	20.06 ± 0.48	15.95 to 22.82	-13.43 ± 0.16	-14.38 to -13.43

Table 2. Vibrissae mean, standard deviation, and range δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N) sampled from 2010 to 2016. Aa= Arctocephalus australis unnamed ssp., Ob=Otaria byronia

DISCUSSION

South American pinnipeds, resident apex predators of coastal Peru, occupy food webs by predating on economically important fishes. These marine mammals, which are known to forage within the upwelling ecosystem, serve as sentinel species, indicating the ecological health of their environments throughout fluctuating ENSO conditions (Fossi & Panti 2017). The Peruvian coastline, home to various marine macro-fauna such as the vulnerable Peruvian fur seal, is modulated by ENSO conditions and associated physical oceanographic properties that alter the biological oceanic conditions in these habitats. Well known for its continual upwelling-driven ecosystems, Peruvian coastal habitats are extremely dynamic where conditions can be either favorable for marine mammals and associated prey, or potentially catastrophic with risk of total population collapses and mass mortality events. The effect of ENSO conditions on the feeding ecology, trophic interactions, and movements of Peruvian pinnipeds are of significant interest because of their ecological importance in coastal ecosystems. This is the first study of its kind to capture potential ecosystem changes recorded by apex predators and related to ENSO conditions.

Sea Surface Temperature Anomaly

The proxy for ENSO conditions, monthly SSTA readings, in this study were collected from the closest Niño index, Niño 1+2, which is located more than 800 km from the Punta San Juan rookeries. Although this is a substantial distance, previously documented ENSO years have shown to have impacts on the coastal Peruvian ecosystem, including the 1997/98 anchoveta fishery collapse and PFS mass mortality event (Arias-Shreiber & Rivas 1998, Cardenas-Alayza 2012). An analysis of stable carbon and nitrogen isotope ratios (δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N) from whiskers of these two pinniped species provided a timeline of trophic and production changes in this dynamic system, one where ENSO conditions fluctuate and organisms must adapt in order to survive potentially stressful conditions. According to the SSTA from the Niño 1+2 region (Figure 3), ENSO cold phase conditions persisted during the years 2004, 2005, 2007, 2010, 2011, 2013 and ENSO warm phase conditions occurred in 2006, 2008, 2009, 2012, 2014-2016 (Table 3); though duration and magnitude differed among years. The strongest ENSO on record

occurred during this study, 2014 to 2016 (Figure 3); the biotic results of the events were captured in 2015 and 2016 whiskers.

Peruvian Fur Seal ($\delta^{13}C$)

Mean vibrissae δ^{13} C signatures represented the carbon source in the seals diet, carbon undergoes a small fractionation off less than 1‰ during assimilation and can therefore trace primary production changes within the seals environment (DeNiro & Epstein 1978, Lajtha & Michener 1994, France 1995, Gannes et al. 1998). The comparison of consumer tissue δ^{13} C values over time provides information regarding ocean productivity in foraging grounds throughout fluctuating ENSO conditions (France & Peters 1997, Hirons 2001, Kurle & Worthy 2001). Among recorded patterns, the PSJ population δ^{13} C signatures from 2004-2009 varied within 0.49‰ and 2015-2016 within 0.66‰, which revealed foraging within approximately one to two trophic levels; however, from 2010-2014, δ^{13} C revealed a change of 1.18‰, indicating foraging in two or more trophic levels over this time period. Additionally, observations from 2010 to 2016 represented the largest variance of δ^{13} C (Δ 1.29‰). This could indicate that the population was foraging in an environment with fluctuating primary production due to fluxing ENSO conditions or geographical variability in their foraging as an adaptation to foraging stressors in correspondence to ENSO conditions.

Both male and female fur seals exhibited nearly identical δ^{13} C patterns though males were more enriched by no more than 0.5‰ (Figure 5). This could be indicating a potential dissimilarity in foraging location between male and female PFS. Male whisker δ^{13} C signatures had depleted from 2010 until 2013, where it began a steady enrichment; however, δ^{13} C did not return to values seen in earlier years (ca. 2004-2011) for the remainder of studied data. Carbon source absorbed within the PFS diet exposes a change between the later years (ca. 2004-2011) and present-day isotope recordings. Throughout the overall time series the whiskers covered (2004-2016), both male and female δ^{13} C did not reveal a significant change with fluctuating SSTA; however, males revealed a significant correlation between δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (p=0.0076), while females did not in 2011



Figure 18. Peruvian fur seal mean $\delta^{13}C$ (blue) relative to sea surface temperature anomaly (°C), 2004-2016.

and 2012 whisker samples. Inclusive of the population over a shorter timeframe of 7 years (e.g. 2009-2016), δ^{13} C signatures significantly correlated with SSTA. Additionally, δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C signatures were significantly inversely correlated during the extreme El Nino event in 2014-2016 (p=0.001663).

Related studies with sampling efforts in the Humboldt Current, such as Espinoza-Morriberón et al. (2017), revealed findings of more depleted δ^{13} C values farther offshore (Sydeman et al. 1997, Hill et al. 2006, Miller et al. 2008). Sampling distance from shore corresponded to more depleted δ^{13} C in animals, which is common in upwelling ecosystems (Sydeman et al. 1997, Miller et al. 2008, Espinoza-Morriberón et al. 2017). Carbon isotope signatures (δ^{13} C) decrease sequentially between coastal, neritic, and oceanic species due to decreasing productivity offshore (France and Peters 1997, Hill et al. 2006, Espinoza-Morriberón et al. 2017). ENSO conditions could also contribute fluctuating patterns in primary production during warm and cold phases, which fluctuates resource availability within an environment.

Peruvian Fur Seal ($\delta^{15}N$)

Nitrogen enrichment per trophic level is 3-5‰ relative to the diet it is consuming, initiated through the bioaccumulation of the nitrogen isotopes necessary to build proteins (Deniro & Epstein 1981). The comparison of consumer tissues' δ^{15} N without their prey source provides baseline information regarding potential food web linkages, such as how many trophic levels these organisms are feeding within and if it varies over a time series (France & Peters 1997, Hirons 2001, Kurle & Worthy 2001). According to the PSJ population's δ^{15} N recordings, a large-scale pattern occurred in PFS foraging where a long-term gradual depletion followed by a quick enrichment cycled. Whether this pattern corresponds to ENSO conditions is uncertain; however, as ENSO conditions strengthened and lasted longer, increased depletion occurred. An oscillation occurred with a depletion from 2004-2009 (Δ -2.41‰) until 2010-2011, which had a period of enrichment of (Δ +2.17‰). Following these conditions, the similar pattern that persisted from 2012 through the end of 2016 revealed an oscillation of a five-year depletion (Δ -4.35‰) followed by a nine-month (Δ +1.56‰) enrichment; however, this may have persisted but was beyond our recordings.

Above normal sea surface temperatures correlated to more depleted $\delta^{15}N$ signatures in PFS whiskers (p<0.001). When evaluating ENSO conditions by phases (i.e. cold, norm, warm), a significant correlation between warmer phases and more depleted $\delta^{15}N$ as well as colder phases and more enriched $\delta^{15}N$ were identified (p<0.001). During warmer phases, more widespread variation and the most depleted $\delta^{15}N$ is seen, whereas the most narrowly spread and consistently enriched $\delta^{15}N$ signatures was seen during cold phases. Increasing magnitude of ENSO conditions revealed significant correlation to depleted $\delta^{15}N$, where strong, very strong, and extreme were all below average $\delta^{15}N$ signatures, whereas norm, weak, and moderate magnitudes all varied at or slightly above the mean PFS population $\delta^{15}N$ (p=0.009).

Males that experienced above average SSTA were strongly correlated to depletion in $\delta^{15}N$ (p<0.001), with a significant correlation to warm phase conditions (p=0.013). Warm phase ENSO conditions revealed a widely variable $\delta^{15}N$ and also the most depleted. Females that experienced above average SSTA, like males, were significantly correlated with depleted $\delta^{15}N$ (p=0.003). ENSO phase correlated significantly to $\delta^{15}N$ signatures (p=0.013), where warm phases were wide spread and more depleted and cold phases were narrow spread and enriched in $\delta^{15}N$. However, the magnitude of these ENSO events did not seem to have a significant effect on male and female $\delta^{15}N$ signatures.



Figure 19. Peruvian fur seal mean $\delta^{15}N$ (red) relative to sea surface temperature anomaly (°C), 2004-2016.

Peruvian Fur Seal Dam-Pup Pairs

Evaluation of the 2015 PFS dam-pup pairings concluded that pups δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N whisker readings were indicative of the dam, making pup whiskers a proxy for maternal diet during the gestation period. While this method has yet to be done before in Peruvian fur seals, pup tissues have been used to examine adult female diets in other phocid and otariid seal species using stable isotope analyses such as Steller sea lions, Bearded seals, and Gray seals (Hewer et al. 1968, Newsome et al. 2010, Hindell et al. 2012, Scherer et al. 2015, Lerner et al. 2018). Post birth, pups reflect a trophic level higher than dam due to feeding from her milk (Cherel et al. 2015). A paired two-sampled t-test confirmed that pup whiskers represented growth in-utero and were indicative of the dam (δ^{13} C p=0.490, δ^{15} N p=0.573,).

Adult female PFS at Punta San Juan have been observed nursing a newborn, pup, and yearling simultaneously; the more stressful the environments, the more likely young still need to be nursing on adult female milk to meet metabolic needs for survival. With the increasing occurrence of ENSO conditions noted in Figure 3, dam's may experience a higher metabolic demand resulting in extended time at sea foraging, which subsequently may leave to pup starvation. Isotope signatures from milk would aid in understanding the dam-pup nutritional relationship that followed the gestation period resembled from pup whiskers. This information would provide further insight on potential malnutrition occurring during ENSO years when birth rates are lower (CSA-UPCH 2016, Cherel et al. 2015, CSA-UPCH 2017, 2018).

It is possible that this malnutrition has already been exemplified in the Punta San Juan reserve's population during the 2014-2016 ENSO. Population growth in the PSJ rookery had revealed a relatively steady increase from the years 2000 until approximately 2014 when the population plateaued, followed by a drastic decrease from 2015 continuing through 2017 by nearly 50% (CSA-UPCH 2016, 2017, 2018). In addition to this observed population decrease, data from the main breeding beach of PSJ revealed poor breeding seasons in 2012, 2014, 2015, and 2017, with 2014 and 2017 among the lowest fecundity observed (>300 individuals) (CSA-UPCH 2017, 2018).

Peruvian Fur Seal Males and Females

In both male and female Peruvian fur seals sampled from 2011 and 2012, δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C values were significantly different ((2011) p<0.001, (2012) p<0.001), foraging differences between adult males and females can be inferred. Females δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C were significantly more depleted than males (p<0.001, p<0.001, respectively) and no difference existed between the years analyzed (sample years 2011 and 2012). The male's average δ^{13} C was 0.51‰ higher than the females and the δ^{15} N was slightly enriched (1.36‰) relative to the female seals. These variances between male and female PFS detect potential differences in forging habits such as foraging within different trophic levels. Whether this is due to physical ability, metabolic capability, foraging location or depth, or simply different or larger prey preference cannot be inferred without potential prey source isotope signatures or tracking data.

South American Sea Lions

South American sea lion δ^{15} N signatures revealed a significant correlation with changing SSTA (p=0.002) and with ENSO phase (p=0.003), where anomalous warm phases corresponded with depleted δ^{15} N and cold phases corresponded with more enriched δ^{15} N. Although, magnitude of ENSO event did not correlate significantly to SASL male signatures, this could be because these individuals were sampled in 2011. During the stretch of time these whiskers represented (prior to Nov. 2011), ENSO conditions were for the majority neutral (norm) to moderate cold phases with sporadic weak warm phases. Most of these anomalous ENSO conditions were short lived if beyond weak magnitudes. This leaves question to whether longevity of conditions holds more effect to trophic dynamics in these ecosystems rather than magnitude of these conditions. SASL δ^{13} C signatures did not reveal a significant change with fluctuating SSTA, which again, could be in relation to the longevity of these conditions rather than the magnitude or phase associated to the varying SSTA.

Sympatric Species

These sympatric marine mammal species did not reveal a significant difference in isotope signatures. However, the isotope signatures revealed large changes in PFS between years, while the SASL signatures revealed smaller variation between most years

with some large-scale changes between select years (Figure 17); this could be a distinction between species response times to various ENSO conditions. ENSO phase correlated to SASL δ^{15} N more than PFS, while magnitude of ENSO phase effected SASL and PFS equally. SASL and PFS δ^{13} C signatures were similar and did not reveal a significant change with fluctuating SSTA. Although these species revealed similar isotope values, a PCA with trajectory involving δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C in combination revealed that both the PFS and SASL behaved differently throughout the time series. It could be assumed that PFS and SASL adapt differently in order to take advantage of productive conditions or survive resource-limited conditions.

This information could be indicative of different foraging behaviors throughout various ENSO events. Further evaluation of both prey items and biologging data would aid in determining the survival strategy these sympatric species must encounter in order to adapt to this apparent trophic niche overlap.

Conclusions

The Punta San Juan rookery is home to two sympatric species of Otariids, where ENSO conditions fluctuate frequently, producing ecological ramifications. This study provides an understanding of the impact of certain oceanographic influences on these pinnipeds. Vibrissae demonstrated multi-year timelines, which allowed evaluation of long term foraging in apex predators within this dynamic ecosystem. Stable isotope ratios from Peruvian pinnipeds reveal temporal dietary variations; gender- and species-related resource and habitat use were seen by providing a proxy of foraging habitat (δ^{13} C) and trophic level (δ^{15} N) inside and outside anomalous ENSO conditions.

All individual pinnipeds resembled that of others within the population; however, isotope signatures varied between gender and species. Assessment of PFS pup vibrissae grown in-utero in conjunction with dam whiskers, revealed that pup vibrissae are interchangeable with dam vibrissae as a proxy of maternal diet throughout the gestation period, similar to studies done with bearded seals and gray seals (Hindell et al. 2012, Lerner et al. 2018). Pups revealed identical signatures to that of the dam within the gestation period, revealing that signatures evaluated in females resemble dietary conditions pups were also influenced by throughout developmental stages.

Females revealed significantly more depleted δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N than males; males fed within more enriched environments and potentially at a higher trophic level. However, SASL and PFS males did not reveal a significant difference between isotope signatures. It can be presumed that males of both species adapt to ENSO conditions differently than females do, but similarly to that of one another. This is most likely due to demands associated with maternal pup attendance, unlike males who after mating can forage and move as necessary. Males are also not metabolically taxed by feeding young. These sympatric species revealed differences between years that could resemble successful survival adaptations to resource limitation.

Varying SSTA readings were correlated to fluctuations in δ^{15} N isotope signatures revealing evidentiary support that ENSO conditions alter the foraging of these apex predators over time. Anomalous warm phase temperatures had a strong influence on δ^{15} N, which revealed the most depleted signatures, whereas cold phase anomalous conditions revealed the most enriched δ^{15} N signatures. Although δ^{13} C revealed minor fluctuations over the 12-year timeframe, δ^{13} C did reveal trophic significant enrichment and depletion during specific points in time. Additionally, both δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N were inversely correlated from 2014 to 2016 during the strongest El Nino-Southern Oscillation event on record. As δ^{15} N became depleted, δ^{13} C became more enriched; this could indicate that as SSTA became more positive (e.g. ENSO warm phase conditions), prey availability in their foraging grounds changed, possibly forcing pinnipeds to forage farther off shore or scavenging within foraging grounds, potentially spending more time at sea to do so. This observation resembles Majluf's (1987) observations where females were absent for long periods of time, upwards of 20 days, during El Nino events causing major ramifications on offspring growth and survival (Gentry & Kooyman 1986, Majluf 1987b). The PFS δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N signatures recorded reflect a shift in available prey, as environmental conditions become unfavorable for anchoveta and favorable for sardines, vice versa (Benson and Trites 2002, Alheit and Niquen 2004).

The approximate growth rate of 0.09 mm/day revealed an average of 3.5 years represented in individual PFS whiskers and 5.3 years within individual male SASL whiskers. Although behavioral adaptations could not be evaluated based solely on these pinniped isotope ratios, fluctuations in both stable isotopes across years revealed that the

seals were still feeding within these stressful conditions and managed to adapt in order to survive. Considering that the 2014-2016 ENSO event was the strongest on record, it leaves question to whether these adaptations could be executed for such a strong magnitude (e.g., Extreme) and long duration of time (e.g., ~3 years). With the mean trend of SSTA in the 1+2 Nino region continuously increasing over 1°C over the past decade (Figure 3), both increased duration and magnitude threaten these vulnerable species. These anomalous climatic conditions elicit changes in primary production, which may force alternative foraging strategies for the survival of these locally endangered marine mammals.

Future Research

Comparing apex predator δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N to those values found in common prey species helps to detect food web changes (DeNiro & Epstein 1981). By comparing vibrissae stable isotope data as done in this baseline study, with those of potential prey, these data would provide information regarding food web linkages and ocean productivity along the coast of Peru and other associated ecosystems (France & Peters 1997, Hirons 2001, Kurle & Worthy 2001). This information would serve fisheries with valuable information on prey available during various ENSO conditions, as PFS are selective foragers by nature and primarily forage on anchovy when available. If PFS do not target this prey during select periods, this could be in relation to fish species abundances and would allow for a better overall understanding of ENSO-induced ecosystem shifts.

Literature Cited

- Alheit J, Ñiquen M (2004) Regime shifts in the Humboldt Current ecosystem. Progress Oceanography. 60: 201-222
- Alonso MK, Crespo EA, Pedraza SN, García NA, Coscarella MA (2000) Food habits of the South American sea lion, Otaria flavescens, off Patagonia, Argentina. Fishery Bulletin. 98(2): 250-263
- Arias-Schreiber M (1993) Interacciones entre lobos marinos (Fam.Otariidae) y la pesquería artesanal en el puerto de San Juan de Marcona, Perú. BSc. Thesis, Universidad Agraria La Molina, Lima.
- Arias-Schreiber M (1998) Distribución y abundancia de las poblaciones de lobos marinos
 Arctocephalus australis y Otaria byronia en el litoral peruano durante Diciembre 1
 997 y Febrero 1998. Informe Anual. Instituto del Mar del Perú, Unpublished.
- Arias-Schreiber M, Rivas C (1998) Distribución, tamaño poblacional y estructura de las poblaciones de lobos marinos (Arctocephalus australis y Otaria byronia) en el litoral peruano en noviembre de 1996 y Marzo de 1997. Informe Progresivo. 73: 16-32
- Arias-Schreiber M (2000) Los lobos marinos y su relacion con la abundancia de la anchoveta peruana durante 1979-2000. Boletin del Instituto del Mar del Peru. 19: 133-138
- Arias-Schreiber M (2003) Prey spectrum and feeding behaviour of two sympatric pinnipeds (Arctocephalus australis and Otaria flavescens) in relation to the 1997/98 ENSO in southern Peru. MSc Thesis, University of Bremen.
- Arntz WE, Gallardo VA, Gutiérrez D, Isla E, Levin LA, Mendo J, Neira C, Rowe GT, Tarazona J, Wolff M (2006) El Niño and similar perturbation effects on the benthos of the Humboldt, California, and Benguela Current upwelling ecosystems. Adv. Geosci. 6: 243-265
- Ashok K, Behera SK, Rao SA, Weng H, Yamagata T (2007) El Niño Modoki and its possible teleconnection. J. Geophys. Res. 112: C11007
- Bakun A, Black BA, Bograd SJ, Garcia-Reyes M, Miller AJ, Rykaczewski RR, Sydeman WJ (2015) Anticipated Effects of Climate Change on Coastal Upwelling Ecosystems. Curr Clim Change Rep. 1: 85-93
- Barber RT, Chavez FP (1983) Biological consequences of El Niño. Science. 222: 1203-1210
- Barber RT, Kogelschatz JE (1990) Nutrients and productivity during the 1982/83 El Niño. Elsevier Oceanography Series. 52: 21-53
- Barth JA, Menge BA, Lubchenco J, Chan F, Bane JM, Kirincich AR, McManus MA, Nielsen KJ, Pierce SD, Washburn L (2007) Delayed upwelling alters nearshore coastal ocean ecosystems in the northern California current. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA. 104 (10): 3719-3724
- Bartheld J, Pavés H, Contreras F, Vera C, Manque C, Miranda D, Sepúlveda D, Antacho P, Ossman L (2008) Cuantificación poblacional de lobos marinos en el litoral de la I a IV región. Informe Final Proyecto FIP. 2006-2050
- Bearhop S, Hilton GM, Votier SC, Waldron S (2004) Stable isotope ratios indicate that body condition in migrating passerines is influenced by winter habitat.
 Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, Series B. 271: S2 15–S8
- Benson AJ, Trites AW (2002) Ecological effects of regime shifts in the Bering Sea and eastern North Pacific Ocean. Fish and Fisheries. 3(2): 95-113
- Berger WH (1988) Appendix global maps of ocean productivity. In: Berger WH, Smetacek VS, Wefer G (eds) Productivity of the Ocean: Present and Past. John Wiley, Honoken, NJ, p 429-455
- Berta A, Churchill M (2012) Pinniped taxonomy: review of species and subspecies currently recognized, and evidence used for their description. Mammal Review. 42: 207-234
- Bonavia D (1982) Los gavilanes (precerámico), mar, desierto y oasis en la historia del hombre. Instituto Arqueológico Alemán, Comisión de Arqueología General y Comparada. Ausonia, Lima. p 512
- Botto F, Bremec C, Marecos A, Schejter L, Lasta M, and Iribarne O (2006) Identifying predators of the SW Atlantic Patagonian scallop *Zygochlamys patagonica* using stable isotopes. Fisheries Research. 81: 45-50
- Bouchon M, Pena C (2008) Impactos de los eventos La Nina en la pesque ia peruana. Inf Inst. Mar Peru. 35(3): 193-198
- Calienes R (2014) Produccion primaria en el ambiente marino en el Pacifico sudeste, Peru, 1960-2000. Bol. Inst. Mar Peru. 29: 232-288
- Cai W, Borlace S, Lengaigne M, Van Rensch P, Collins M, Vecci G, Timmermann A, Santoso A, McPhaden MJ, Wu L, England MH, Guojian W, Jin FF (2014) Increasing frequency of extreme El Niño events due to greenhouse warming. Nature Climate Change. 4: 111-116

- Campana SE (1999) Chemistry and composition of fish otoliths: pathways, mechanisms and applications. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 188: 263-297
- Campagna C, Werner R, Karesh W, Marín MR, Koontz F, Cook R, Koontz C (2001) Movements and location at sea of South American sea lions (*Otaria flavescens*). Journal of Zoology. 255(2): 205-220
- Campagna C (2008) Arctocephalus australis, The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2008: e.T2055A9211535. http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2008.RLTS.T2055A9211535.en
- Cárdenas-Alayza S (2012) Prey abundance and population dynamics of South American fur seals (Arctocephalus australis) in Peru (T). University of British Columbia.
- Cárdenas-Alayza S, Cardeña-Mormontoy MA (2012) The Punta San Juan Project– Protecting One of the World's Largest Colonies of Humboldt Penguins. The Penguin TAG Conservation Newsletter. 16: 10-15
- Cárdenas-Alayza S, Crespo E, Oliveira L (2016) *Otaria byronia*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2016: e.T41665A61948292. http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016- 1.RLTS.T41665A61948292.en
- Cárdenas-Alayza S, Oliveira L (2016) *Arctocephalus australis* (Peruvian/Northern Chilean subpopulation). The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2016: e.T72050476A72050985. http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-1.RLTS.T72050476A72050985.en
- Cárdenas-Alayza S, Oliveira L, Crespo E (2016) *Arctocephalus australis*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2016: e.T2055A45223529. http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-1.RLTS.T2055A45223529.en
- Cappozzo HL (1995) Comportamiento Reproductivo en dos Especies de Otáridos de América del Sur. Tesis de Doctorado, Universidad de Buenos Aires, Buenos Aires, Argentina.
- Cappozzo HL, Perrin WP (2009) South American sea lion (Otaria flavescens). In: Perrin WF, Würsing B, Thewissen JGM (eds) Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals (2nd ed.) Academic Press, San Diego, p 1076-1079
- Chaigneau A, Arnaud Gizolme G, Grados C (2008) Mesoscale eddies off Peru in altimeter records: Identification algorithms and eddy spatio-temporal patterns. Prog. Oceanogr. 79: 106-119
- Chavez FP, Ryan J, Lluch-Cota SE, Niquen M (2003) From anchovies to sardines and back: multidecadal change in the Pacific Ocean. Science. 299: 217-221

- Chavez F, Messie M, (2009) A comparison of Eastern Boundary Upwelling Ecosystems. Prog. Oceanogr. 83: 80-96
- Checkley DM, Ayón P, Baumgartner T, Bernal M, Coetzee JC, Emmett R, Guevara-Carrasco R, Hutchings L, Ibaibarriaga L, Nakata H, Oozeki Y, Planque B, Schweigert J, Stratoudakis Y, Lingen C (2009) Habitats. Climate change and small pelagic fish. Cambridge University Press. 3: 12-44
- Cherel Y, Hobson KA, Guinet C (2015) Milk isotopic values demonstrate that nursing fur seal pups are a full trophic level higher than their mothers. Rapid Communication in Mass Spectrometry. 29: 1485-1490
- Cherel Y, Kernaleguen L, Richard P, Guinet C (2009) Whisker Isotopic signature depicts migration patterns and multi-year intra- and inter-individual foraging strategies in fur seals. Biology Letters. 5: 830–832
- Colchao-Claux P (2016) Mortalidad de lobos marinos finos (Arctocephalus australis) adultos por interacción con pesca en Punta San Juan – RNSIIPG, entre el 21 de Enero al 11 de Febrero, 2016. Reporte de campo Programa Punta San Juan 001-2016. Programa Punta San Juan, 2016.
- Committee on Taxonomy (2015) List of marine mammal species and subspecies. Society for Marine Mammalogy. URL: https://www.marinemammalscience.org/species-information/list-marine-mammal-species-subspecies/
- Coyle KO, Eisner L, Mueter F, Pinchuk A, Janout M, Cieciel K, Farley E, Andrews AG (2011) Climate change in the southeastern Bering Sea: impacts on pollock stocks and implications for the oscillating control hypothesis. Fisheries Oceanography 20: 139-156
- Crespo EA, Pedraza SN, Dans SL, Koen Alonso M, Reyes LM, García NA, Coscarella MA, Schiavini ACM (1997) Direct and Indirect Effects of the High seas Fisheries on the Marine Mammal Populations in the Northern and Central Patagonian Coast. Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fisheries Science 22: 189-207
- Crespo BG, Figueiras FG, Groom S, (2007) Role of cross-shelf currents in the dynamics of harmful dinoflagellate blooms in the northwestern Iberian upwelling. Limnol. Oceanogr. 52: 2668-2678
- CSA-UPCH (2017) Informe Técnico Anual 2017. Informes Técnicos del Programa Punta San Juan. Lima: CSA-UPCH. 108p
- CSA-UPCH (2018) Informe Técnico Semestral I- 2018. Informes Técnicos del Programa Punta San Juan. Lima: CSA-UPCH. 39p

- Daneri G, Dellarossa V, Quiñones R, Jacob B, Montero P, Ulloa O (2000) Primary production and community respiration in the Humboldt Current System off Chile and associated oceanic areas. Mar. Ecol. Progress Series 197: 41–49
- Dans SL, Crespo EA, Pedraza SN, Alonso MK (2004) Recovery of the South American sea lion (*Otaria flavescens*) population in northern Patagonia. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 61: 1681-1690
- Darimont C, Reimchen T (2002) Intra-hair stable isotope analysis implies seasonal shift to salmon in Gray wolf diet. Canadian Journal of Zoology. 80: 1638–1642
- Dassis M, Rodríguez DH, Ieno EN, Davis RW (2012) Submerged swimming and resting metabolic rates in Southern sea lions. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 432: 106-112
- Dehn LA, Sheffield GG, Follmann EH, Duffy LK, Thomas DL, O'Hara TM (2007) Feeding ecology of phocid seals and some walrus in the Alaskan and Canadian Arctic as determined by stomach contents and stable isotope analysis. Polar Biology 30: 167-18
- DeNiro MJ, Epstein S (1978) Influence of diet on the distribution of carbon isotopes in animals. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 42(5): 495-506
- DeNiro MJ, Epstein S (1981) Influence of diet on the distribution of nitrogen isotopes in animals. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 45(3): 341-351
- Donnan C, Quilter J, Fernandini P (2009) De Cupisnique a los Incas: el arte del valle de Jequetepeque: la donación Petrus Fernandini al MALI. [From Cupisnique to the Incas: the art of Jequetepeque Valley: a donation of Petrus Fernandini to MALI]. Asociación Museo de Arte de Lima, Lima.
- Drago M, Crespo EA, Aguilar A, Cardona L, Garcia N, Dans SL, Goodall N (2009a) Historic diet change of the South American sea lion in Patagonia as revealed by isotopic analysis. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 384: 274-286
- Drago M, Cardona L, Crespo EA, Aguilar A (2009b) Ontogenetic dietary changes in South American sea lions. J. Zool. 279:251-261
- Drago M, Franco-Trecu V, Zenteno L, Szteren D, Crespo A, Riet Sapriza FG, Oliveira L, Machado R, Inchausti P, Cardona L (2015) Sexual foraging segregation in South American sea lions increases during the pre-breeding period in the Rio de la Plata plume. Marine Ecology Progress Series 52: 261-272
- Echevin V, Albert A, Levy M, Aumont O, Graco M, Garric G (2014) Remotely-forced intraseasonal variability of the Northern Humboldt Current System surface chlorophyll using a coupled physical-ecosystem model. Con. Shelf Res. 73: 14-30

- Espinoza-Morriberón D, Echevin V, Colas F, Tam J, Ledesma J, Vásquez L, Graco M (2017) Impacts of El Niño events on the Peruvian upwelling system productivity. J. Geophys. Res. Oceans 122: 5423–5444
- Finlay JC, Kendall C (1994) Stable Isotopes in Ecology and Environmental Science. In: Lajtha K, Michener RH (eds.). Blackwell Scientific Publications, Ltd. Oxford, England. 316 p
- Foley M (2017) Evidence of Intermittent Residency in the Northern Fur Seal (Callorhinus ursinus). Master's thesis. Nova Southeastern University. 448: 7-55
- Fossi MC, Panti C (2017) Sentinel Species of Marine Ecosystems. Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Environmental Science.
- France RL, Peters RH (1997) Ecosystem differences in the trophic enrichment of 13C in aquatic food webs. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 54: 1255-1258
- France RL (1995) Differentiation between littoral and pelagic food webs in lakes using stable carbon isotopes. Limnology and Oceanography. 40: 1310-1313
- Franco-Trecu V, Tassino B, Páez E (2010b) Comportamiento maternal de Arctocephalus australis, en Isla de Lobos-Uruguay. Revista de Etología 9: 29-40
- Franco-Trecu V (2010) Éxito de crianza y hábitos alimenticios en hembras del lobo fino sudamericano (Arctocephalus australis) y su relación trófica con hembras del león marino sudamericano (Otaria flavescens). Universidad de la República.
- Fry B (1988) Food web structure on Georges Bank from stable C, N, and S isotopic compositions. Limnology and Oceanography 33: 1182-1190
- Fry B (2006) Stable Isotope Ecology. Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, New York, NY.
- Fry B, Sherr EB (1984) δ 13C measurements as indicators of carbon flow in marine and freshwater ecosystems. Contributions to Marine Science 27: 13–47
- Gannes LZ, del Rio CM, Koch P (1998) Natural abundance variations in stable isotopes and their potential uses in animal physiological ecology. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology. 119A: 725-737
- Gehara MCM (1999) Filogeografia do Leao-Marinho-do-Sul, Otaria flavescens Shaw 1800. Thesis for Programa de Pos-Graduacao em Zoologia. Pontificia Universidade Catolica do Rio Grande do Sul. 51p.

- Gentry R, Holt J (1986) Attendance behavior of northern fur seals. In: Fur Seals: Maternal Strategies on Land and Sea. Gentry R, Kooyman G (Eds) Princeton: Princeton University Press. p 41-60
- Ginter CC, DeWitt TJ, Fish FE, Marshall CD (2012) Fused traditional and geometric morphometrics demonstrate pinniped whisker diversity. PloS One 7(4): e34481
- Graco MI, Ledesma J, Flores G, Girón M (2007) Nutrientes, oxígeno y procesos biogeoquímicos en el sistema de surgencias de la corriente de Humboldt frente a Perú. Rev. Biol. Peruana 14: 117–128
- Graco MI, Purca S, Dewitte B, Castro CG, Morón O, Ledesma J, Flores G, Gutiérrez D (2017) The OMZ and nutrient features as a signature of interannual and lowfrequency variability in the Peruvian upwelling system. Biogeosciences 14: 4601-4617
- Grandi MF, Dans SL, Crespo EA and García NA (2012a) Sexual maturity and corporal growth of the South American sea lion, Otaria flavescens, in Patagonia. Estado de situación del lobo marino común en su área de distribución. Editorial Universidad de Valparaíso, Valparaíso, Chile. 44p
- Gruber N, Lchkar Z, Frenzel H, Marchesiello P, Munnich M, McWilliams J, Nagai T, Plattner G (2011) Eddy-induced reduction of biological production in eastern boundary upwelling systems. Nat. Geosci. 4: 787-792
- Guerra CC, Torres DN (1987) Presence of South American fur seal, Arctocephalus australis, in northern Chile. In: J.P. Croxall and R.L. Gentry (eds), Proceedings of the International Symposium and Workshop: Status, Biology and Ecology of Fur Seals, Cambridge, UK 23-27 April 1984, p 169-176
- Gutierrez M, Swartzman G, Bertrand A, Bertrand S (2007) Anchovy (Engraulis ringens) and sardine (Sardinops sagax) spatial dynamics and aggregation patterns in the Humboldt Current ecosystem, Peru, from 1983–2003. Fisheries Oceanography 16(2): 155-168
- Gutierrez D, Akester M, Narajo L (2016) Productivity and Sustainability Management of the Humboldt Current Large Marine Ecosystem under climate change. Environ. Dev. 17: 1126-144
- Hall-Aspland A, Rogers T, Canfield R (2005) Stable carbon and nitrogen isotope analysis reveals seasonal variation in the diet of Leopard seals. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 305: 249–259
- Hanson NN, Wurster CM, Bird MI, Reid K, Boyd IL (2009) Intrinsic and extrinsic forcing in life histories: patterns of growth and stable isotopes in male Antarctic fur seal teeth. Marine Ecology Progress Series 388: 263-272

- Harcourt R (1992) Factors affecting early mortality in South American fur seals (Arctocephalus australis) in Peru: density-related effects and predation. Lond. J. Zool. 226: 259-270
- Harcourt R (1993) Individual variation in predation on fur seals by southern sea lions (*Otaria byronia*) in Peru. Canadian Journal of Zoology 71(9): 1908-1911
- Hewer HR, Backhouse KM (1968) Embryology and fetal growth of the grey seal, *Halichoerus grypus*. Journal of Zoology 155: 507–533
- Hindell MA, Lydersen C, Hop H, Kovacs KM (2012) Pre-partum diet of adult female bearded seals in years of contrasting ice conditions. PLoS One 7: e38307
- Hill JM, McQuaid CD, Kaehler S (2006) Biogeographic and nearshore-offshore trends in isotope ratios of intertidal mussels and their food sources around the coast of southern Africa. Mar Ecol Progr Ser 318: 63–73
- Hirons AC (2001) Trophic dynamics of pinniped populations in Alaska using stable carbon and nitrogen isotope ratios. PhD dissertation, University of Alaska Fairbanks. 173p
- Hirons AC, Schell DM, Finney BP (2001) Temporal records of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N in North Pacific pinnipeds: inferences regarding environmental change and diet. Oecologia 129(4): 591-601
- Huang B, Banzon VF, Freeman E, Lawrimore J, Liu W, Peterson TC, Smith TM, Thorne PW, Woodruff SD, Zhang H (2014) Extended Reconstructed Sea Surface Temperature version 4 (ERSST.v4): Part I. Upgrades and intercomparisons. Journal of Climate. 28: 911–930
- Huang B, Thorne P, Smith T, Smith T, Liu W, Lawrimore J, Banzon V, Zhang H, Peterson T, Menne M (2015) Further Exploring and Quantifying Uncertainties for Extended Reconstructed Sea Surface Temperature (ERSST) Version 4 (v4). Journal of Climate. 29: 3119–3142
- Huang B, Thorne PW, Banzon VF, Boyer T, Chepurin G, Lawrimore JH, Menne MJ, Smith TM, Vose RS, Zhang H (2017) NOAA Extended Reconstructed Sea Surface Temperature (ERSST), Version 5. [Nino 1+2]. NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information. [8/30/2018]
- Hückstädt LA, Antezana T (2003) Behaviour of the southern sea lion (Otaria flavescens) and consumption of the catch during purse-seining for jack mackerel (Trachurus symmetricus) off central Chile. ICES Journal of Marine Science: Journal du Conseil 60(5): 1003-1011

- Hückstädt LA, Krautz MC (2004) Interaction between southern sea lions Otaria flavescens and jack mackerel Trachurus symmetricus commercial fishery off central Chile: a geostatistical approach. Marine Ecology Progress Series 282: 285-294
- Hückstädt LA, Rojas CP, Antezana T (2007) Stable isotope analysis reveals pelagic foraging by the Southern sea lion in central Chile. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 347(1): 123-133
- Hückstädt LA, Quiñones RA, Sepúlveda M, Costa DP (2014) Movement and diving patterns of juvenile male South American sea lions off the coast of central Chile. Mar Mam Sci. (30): 1175-1183
- Huyer A, Smith RL, Paluszkiewicz T (1987) Coastal Upwellinh off Peru During Normal and El Nino Times, 1981-1984. Journal of Geophysical Research 92: 14297-14307
- Hobson K, Welch He (1992) Determination of Trophic Relationships within a High Arctic Marine Food Web using Delta-C-13 and Delta-N-15 Analysis. Marine Ecology-Progress Series (84): 9-18
- Hobson KA, Sease JL, Merrick RL, Piatt JF (1997) Investigating trophic relationships of pinnipeds in Alaska and Washington using stable isotope ratios of nitrogen and carbon. Marine Mammal Science 13: 114-132
- IMARPE (2014) Censo Nacional de Lobo Fino (*Arctocephalus australis*) 2006. Informe Interno-Unidad de Investigaciones de Depredadores Superiores IMARPE (Instituto del Mar del Peru)
- Jacox M, Hazen E, Zaba K, Rudnick D, Edwards C, Moore A, Bograd S (2016) Impacts of the 2015-2016 El Nino on the California Current System: Early assessment and comparison to past events. Geophysical Research Letters 43: 7072-7080
- Kao HY, Yu JY (2009) Contrasting Eastern-Pacific and Central-Pacific Types of ENSO. American Meteorological Society 22: 615-632
- Karstensen J, Ulloa O (2009) Peru-Chile Current System. In: Steele J, Turekian K, Thorpe S (eds) Encyclopedia of Ocean Sciences (2nd Edition), Academic Press, p 385-392
- Katz H, Pessina P, Franco-Trecu V (2013) Serum progesterone concentration in female South American fur seals (Arctophoca australis) during the breeding season. Aquatic Mammals 39(3): 290-295

- Kelleher C (2016) Vibrissae growth rates and foraging and migration patterns for juvenile male northern fur seals (Callorhinus ursinus) from St. Paul Island, Alaska determined with stable isotope analysis. Master of Science Thesis, University of California, San Diego. 11-21
- Kelly JF (2000) Stable isotopes of carbon and nitrogen in the study of avian and mammalian trophic ecology. Canadian Journal of Zoology. 78: 1-27
- Kessler WS, McPhaden MJ (1995) Oceanic equatorial waves and the 1991-1993 El Nino. J. Clim. 8: 1757-1774
- Kernaleguen L, Cazelles B, Arnould JP, Richard P, Guinet C, Cherel Y (2012) Long-term species, sexual and individual variations in foraging strategies of fur seals revealed by stable isotopes in whiskers. PLoS One. 7 p
- Kernaleguen L, Dorville N, Ierodiaconou D, Hoskins AJ, Baylis AMM, Hindell MA, Semmens J, Abernathy K, Marshall GJ, Cherel Y, Arnould JPY (2015) From video Recordings to whisker stable isotopes: a critical evaluation of timescale in assessing individual foraging specialization in Australian fur seals. Oecologia. 180: 657–670
- Kim W, Yeh SW, Kim JH, Kug JS, Kwon M (2011) The unique 2009–2010 El Niño event: a fast phase transition of warm pool El Niño to La Niña. Geophys Res Lett 38: 15
- Koen-Alonso M, Crespo EA, Pedraza SN, García NA, Coscarella M (2000) Food habits of the South American sea lion, *Otaria flavescens*, off Patagonia, Argentina. Fish Bulletin. 98: 250–263
- Kostrisky L (1963) Los mamiferos marinos de importancia economica. In: S.D.P.D.M.
 D. Agricultura (ed) Ciclo de Conferencias sobre Recursos del Mar. Universidad de San Marcos. Lima, Peru. 120 p
- Kug JS, Jin FF (2009) Two Types of El Nino Events: Cold Tongue El Nino and Warm Pool El Nino. American Meteorological Society 22: 1499-1515
- Kurle CM, Worthy GA (2001) Stable isotope assessment of temporal and geographic differences in feeding ecology of northern fur seals (*Callorhinus ursinus*) and their prey. Oecologia 126(2): 254-265
- Lachkar Z, Gruber N (2012) A comparative study of biological production in eastern boundary upwelling systems using an artificial neural network. Biogeosciences 9: 293-308

- Lathuiliere C, Echevin V, Levy M, Madec G (2010) On the role of the mesoscale circulation on an idealized coastal upwelling ecosystem. J. Geophys. Res. 115: C09018
- Lee T, McPhaden MJ (2010) Increasing intensity of El Niño in the central-equatorial Pacific. Geophys. Res. Lett. 37: L14603
- Lerner JE, Ono K, Hernandez KM, Runstadler JA, Puryear WB, Polito MJ (2018) Evaluating the use of stable isotope analysis to infer the feeding ecology of a growing US grey seal (*Halichoerus grypus*) population. PLOS ONE. 13(2): e0192241
- Lewis R, O'Connell T, Lewis M, Campagna C, Hoelzel A (2006) Sex-specific foraging strategies and resource partitioning in the Southern elephant seal (*Mirounga leonina*). Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, Series B. 273: 2901–2907
- Limberger D, Trillmich F, Kooyman G, Majluf P (1983) Reproductive failure of fur seals in Galapagos and Peru in 1982-83. Trop Ocean Atmos. News. 21: 16-17
- Lima M, Páez E (1995) Growth and reproductive patterns in the South American fur seal. Journal of Mammalogy. 76(4): 1249-1255
- Lima M, Páez E (1997) Demography and population dynamics of South American fur seals using projection matrix models. Journal of Mammalogy. 78(3): 914-920
- Liu W, Huang B, Thorne PW, Banzon VF, Zhang H, Freeman E, Lawrimore J, Peterson TC, Smith TM, Woodruff SD (2014) Extended Reconstructed Sea Surface Temperature version 4 (ERSST.v4): Part II. Parametric and structural uncertainty estimations. Journal of Climate. 28: 931–951
- Lowther AD, Goldsworthy SD (2011) Detecting alternate foraging ecotypes in Australian sea lion (*Neophoca cinerea*) colonies using stable isotope analysis. Marine Mammal Science. 27(3): 567-586
- Luna-Jorquera G, Culik BM (2000) Metabolic rates of swimming Humboldt penguins. Mar. Ecol. Progr. Ser. (203): 301-309
- Lunn N, Boyd I (1991) Pupping-site fidelity of Antarctic fur seals at Bird Island, South Georgia. J. Mammal. 72: 202-206
- Majluf P, Trillmich F (1981) Distribution and abundance of sea lions (*Otaria byronia*) and fur seals (*Arctocephalus australis*) in Peru. Zeitschrift Fur Saugetierkunde-International Journal of Mammalian Biology 46: 384-393

- Majluf P (1984) South American fur seal Arctocaphalus australis, in Peru. In: Croxall J, Gentry R (eds) Status, biology and ecology of fur seals: Proceedings of an international symposium and workshop. NOAA Technical Report, Cambridge, England. p 33-36
- Majluf P (1987a) Reproductive ecology of female South American fur seals at Punta San Juan, Peru. PhD Thesis, University of Cambridge, Cambridge.
- Majluf P (1987b) South American fur seal, Arctocephalus australis, in Peru. In: Croxall JP, Gentry RL (eds) Proceedings of an international workshop Cambridge, England, 23-27 April 1984. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Technical Report National Marine Fisheries Service. 51: 33-35
- Majluf P (1989) Reproduction ecology of South American fur seals in Peru. In: Proceedings of the International Centre for Living Aquatic Resources Management Conference, Callao, Peru, 1-2 Sept 1987. Pauly D, Muck P, Mendo J, Tsukayama I (Eds) Manila: International Centre for Living Aquatic Resource Management. p 332-343
- Majluf P, Apaza M (1998) Effects of the 1997/1998 El Niño on pinnipeds in Peru. In Anais da 8a Reunião de Trabalhos de Especialistas em Mamíferos Aquáticos da América do Sul e 2* Congresso da Sociedade Latinoamericana de Especialistas em Mamíferos Aquáticos de América do Sul, 25–29 October 1998, Olinda. p 120
- Majluf P (1992) Timing of births and juvenile mortality in the South American fur seal in Peru. Journal of Zoology. 227: 367-383
- Majluf P, Babcock E, Riveros J, Schreiber M, Alderete W (2002) Catch and bycatch of sea birds and marine mammals in the small-scale fishery of Punta San Juan, Peru. Conservation Biology. 16: 1333-1343
- McHuron EA, Walcott SM, Zeligs J, Skrovan S, Costa CP, Reichmuth C (2016) Whisker growth dynamics in two North Pacific pinnipeds: implications for determined foraging ecology from stable isotope analysis. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 554: 213–224
- McPhaden MJ, Zebiak SE, Glantz MH (2006) ENSO as an integrating concept in earth science. Science. 314(5806): 1740-1745
- Mendes S, Newton J, Reid RJ, Frantzis A, Pierce GJ (2007a) Stable isotope profiles in sperm whale teeth: variations between areas and sexes. Journal Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom. 87(2): 621-627
- Mendes S, Newton J, Reid RJ, Zuur AF, Pierce GJ (2007b) Stable carbon and nitrogen isotope ratio profiling of sperm whale teeth reveals ontogenetic movements and trophic ecology. Oecologia. 151(4): 605-615

- Miller TW, Brodeur RD, Rau GH (2008) Carbon stable isotopes reveal relative contribution of shelf-slope production to the northern California Current pelagic community. Limnol Oceanogr. 53: 1493-1503
- Minagawa M, Wada E (1984) Stepwise enrichment of δ^{15} N along food chains: further evidence and the relation between δ^{15} N and animal age. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 48: 1135-1140
- Morales CE, Hormazábal SE, Blanco J (1999) Interannual variability in the mesoscale distribution of the depth of the upper boundary of the oxygen minimum layer off northern Chile (18–24S): Implications for the pelagic system and biogeochemical cycling. Journal of Marine Research. 57(6): 909-932
- Mote-Herrera S (2011) δ^{13} C y δ^{15} N en Vibrisas de lobo marino de California (*Zalophus californianus*) como indicador de la variacion trofica estacional en Bahıa Magdalena y Bahıa de La Paz, B.C.S., Mexico: Centro Interdisciplinario de Ciencias Marinas, Mexico.
- Muck P, Fuentes H (1987) Sea lion and fur seal predation on the South American anchoveta, 1953-1982. In: Pauly D, Tsukayama I (eds) The South American Anchoveta and its Upwelling Ecosystem: Three Decades of Change. 234-247 p
- Newsome SD, Etnier MA, Gifford-Gonzalez D, Phillips DL, Van Tuinen M, Hadly EA, Costa DP, Kennett DJ, Guilderson TP, Koch PL (2007a) The shifting baseline of northern fur seal ecology in the northeast Pacific Ocean. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104(23): 9709-9714
- Newsome SD, Etnier MA, Kurle CM, Waldbauer JR, Chamberlain CP, Koch PL (2007b) Historic decline in primary productivity in western Gulf of Alaska and eastern Bering Sea: isotopic analysis of northern fur seal teeth. Marine Ecology Progress Series 332: 211-224
- Newsome SD, Clementz MT, Koch PL (2010) Using stable isotope biogeochemistry to study marine mammal ecology. Marine Mammal Sci. 26: 509–572
- Nyakatura K, Bininda-Emonds ORP (2012) Updating the evolutionary history of Carnivora (Mammalia): a new species-level supertree complete with divergence time estimates. BMC Biology 10: 12p
- Niño Torres C, Gallo-Reynoso JP, Galván-Magaña F, Escobar-Briones E, Macko S (2006) Isotopic analysis of δ13C, δ15N, and δ34S "A feeding tale" in teeth of the longbeaked common dolphin, *Delphinus capensis*. Marine Mammal Science 22(4): 831-846

- Ñiquen M, Bouchon M (2004) Impact of El Niño events on pelagic fisheries in South American waters. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 51(6): 563-574
- O'Leary MH (1981) Carbon isotope fractionation in plants. Phytochemistry. 20: 553-567
- Oliveira L, Arias-Schreiber M, Meyer D, Morgante J (2006) Effective population size in a bottlenecked fur seal population. Biological Conservation 131: 505-509
- Oliveira L (2011) Vulnerability of South American Pinnipeds Under El Niño Southern Oscillation Events. In: Casalegno S (ed) Global Warming Impacts-Case Studies on the Economy, Human Health, and on Urban and Natural Environments. InTech, Croatia. p 237-252
- Oliveira LR, Brownell Jr. RL (2014) Taxonomic status of two subspecies of South American fur seals: Arctocephalus australis australis vs. A. a. gracilis. Marine Mammal Science 30: 1258-1263
- Oliveira LR, Hingst-Zaher E, Morgante JS (2005) Size and shape sexual dimorphism in the skull of the South American fur seal, Arctocephalus australis (Zimmermann, 1783) (Carnivora: Otariidae). Latin American Journal of Aquatic Mammals 4: 27-40
- Oliveira LR, Hoffman JI, Hingst-Zaher E, Majluf P, Muelbert MMC, Morgante JS, Amos W (2008) Morphological and genetic evidence for two evolutionarily significant units (ESUs) in the South American fur seal, *Arctocephalus australis*. Conservation Genetics. 9: 1451-1466
- Oliveira LR, Lopes FRV, Almeida R, Cárdenas S, Márquez JC, García D, Bonatto SL (2012) Status Taxonomico dos lobos-marinhos de Isla Foca (Peru): Arctocephalus australis, A. galapagoensis (CARNIVORA: OTARIIDAE) ou híbridos? 15va Reunión de Trabajo de Expertos en Mamíferos Acuáticos de América del Sur. 9no. Congreso SOLAMAC. 16-20 Setiembre, Puerto Madryn, Argentina.
- Oliveira LR, Meyer D, Hoffman J, Majluf P, Morgante J (2009) Evidence of a genetic bottleneck in an El Niño affected population of South American fur seals, Arctocephalus australis. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 89: 1717-1725
- Ordinola N (2002a) The consequences of cold events for Peru. In: Glantz MH (Eds). La Niña and its impacts: facts and speculation. Tokyo: United Nations University Press p. 146-150
- Ordinola N (2002b) La Nina and its Impacts: Facts and speculation. In: Eds Glantz MH. United Nations University Press. 3-31, 146-151

- Paredes R, Arias-Schreiber M (1999) Dieta del lobo fino (Arctocephalus australis) y lobo chusco (Otaria byronia) en la costa peruana durante Mayo y Junio de 1999.
 Report for: Subdireccion de Investigaciones en Mamiferos Marinos.
- Pauly D, Palomares M (1989) New estimates of monthly biomass recruitment and related statistics of anchoveta (Engraulis ringens) off Peru (4-14S), 1953-1985. In:
 Pauly D, Muck P, Mendo J, Tsukayama I (eds) The Peruvian Upwelling Ecosystem: Dynamics and Interactions. IMARPE-GTZ-ICLARM p 189-206
- Pauly D, Tsukayama I (1987) The Peruvian Anchoveta and its Upwelling Ecosystem: Three Decades of Change. IMARPE-GTZ-ICLARM. 14-307
- Pavés HJ, Schlatter RP (2008) Temporada reproductiva del lobo fino austral, *Arctocephalus australis* (Zimmerman, 1783) en la Isla Guafo, Chiloé, Chile. Revista Chilena de Historia Natural, p 137-149
- Pennington T, Mahoney K, Kuwahara V, Kolber D, Calienes R, Chavez F (2006) Primary production in the eastern tropical Pacific: A review. Progress in Oceanography 69: 285-317
- Perrin WF, Wursig B, Thewissen JGM (Eds.) (2009) Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals. Academic Press. p 1352
- Peterson BJ, Fry B (1987) Stable isotopes in ecosystem studies. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 18: 293-320

Piazza A (1969) Los lobos marinos en el Peru. [Pinnipeds of Peru]. Caza y Pesca 9: 1-29
Pinedo MC (1990) Ocorrência de Pinípedes na costa brasileira. Garcia de Orla, Série Zoologia 15(2): 37-48

- Picaut J, Ioualalen M, Menkes C, Delcroix T, McPhaden MJ (1996) Mechanisms of the zonal displacements of the Pacific warm pool: Implications for ENSO. Science 274: 1486–1489
- Polovina JJ, Mitchum GT, Evans GT (1995) Decadal and basin-scale variation in mixed layer depth and the impact on biological production in the Central and North Pacific, 1960-88. Deep-Sea Research: Part 1. 42(10): 1701-1716
- Ratnam JV, Behera SK, Masumoto Y, Takahashi K, Yamagata T (2011) Anomalous climatic conditions associated with the El Niño Modoki during boreal winter of 2009. Clim. Dyn, 39: 227-238
- Rea LD, Christ AM, Hayden AB, Stegall VK, Farley SD, Stricker CA, Mellish J, Maniscalco J, Waite J, Burkanov V (2015) Age-specific vibrissae growth rates: a tool for determining the timing of ecologically important events in Steller sea lions. Marine Mammal Science. 32(4): 1200-1218

- Rea LD, Christ AM, Hayden AB, Stegall VK, Farley SD, Stricker CA, Mellish J, Maniscalco J, Waite J, Burkanov V (2015) Age-specific vibrissae growth rates: A tool for determining the timing of ecologically important events in Steller sea lions. Marine Mammal Science. 31: 1213–1233
- Ream RR, Sterling JT, Loughlin TR (2005) Oceanographic features related to northern fur seal migratory movements. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 52(5-6): 823-843
- Reeves RR (1992) South American fur seal. In: Reeves R, Stewart B, Leatherwood S, Folkens P (eds) The Sierra Club Handbook of Seals and Sirenians. Sierra Club books, San Francisco. p 359
- Reeves R, Stewart B, Clapham P, Powell J (2002) Guide to Marine Mammals of the World. New York: Alfred A Knopf, Inc. p 496
- Ren HL, Jin FF (2011) Niño indices for two types of ENSO. Geophys. Res. Lett. 38: L04704
- Riedman M (1990) Predation on pinnipeds. The Pinnipeds: Seals, Sea Lions, and Walruses. Univ of California Press. p 439
- Riet-Sapriza FG, Costa DP, Franco-Trecu V, Marín Y, Chocca J, González B, Beathyate G, Chilvers BL, Hückstadt LA (2013) Foraging behavior of lactating South American sea lions (Otaria flavescens) and spatial-temporal resource overlap with the Uruguayan fisheries. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 88-89: 106-119
- Rodriguez D, Bastida R (1998) Four hundred years in the history of pinniped colonies around Mar del Plata, Argentina. Aquatic Conservation of Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 8: 721-735
- Ropelewski CF, Halpert MS (1987) Global and regional scale precipitation patterns associated with the El Nino/Southern Oscillation. Monthly Weather Review. 115(8): 1606-1626
- Rosas FCW, Pinedo MC, Marmotel M, Haimovici M (1994) Seasonal movements of the South American sea lion (Otaria flavescens, Shaw) off the Rio Grande do Sul coast, Brazil. Mammalia 58(1): 51- 59
- Rosas FCW, Haimovici M, Pinedo MC (1993) Age and growth of the South American sea lion, Otaria flavescens (Shaw, 1800), in southern Brazil. Journal of Mammalogy 74: 141-147

- Rosas-Hernandez M, Hernandez-Camacho CJ, Gonzalez-Rodriguez E, Aurioles-Gamboa D (2018) Vibrissa growth rate in California sea lions based on environmental and isotopic oscillations. PLoS One. 1-14
- Rubenstein DR, Hobson KA (2004) From birds to butterflies: animal movement patterns and stable isotopes. Trends in Ecology and Evolution. 19: 256–63
- Santoso A, McGregor S, Jin FF, Cai W, England MH, An S II, McPhayden MJ, Guilyardi E (2013) Late-twentieth-century emergence of the El Nino propagation asymmetry and future projections. Nature. 504: 126-130
- Saporiti F, Bala L, Gómez-Otero J, Piana EA, Crespo EL, Aguilar A, Cardona L (2014) Paleoindian pinniped exploitation in South America was driven by oceanic productivity. Quaternary Research. 352: 85-91
- Scherer RD, Doll AC, Rea LD, Christ AM, Stricker CA, Witteveen B, Kline TC, Kurle CM, Wunder MB (2015) Stable isotope values in pup vibrissae reveal geographic variation in diets of gestating Steller sea lions Eumetopias jubatus. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 527: 261–274
- Schwartzlose RA, Alheit J, Bakun A, Baumgartner TR, Cloete R, Crawford RJM, Fletcher WJ, Green-Ruiz Y, Hagen E, Kawasaki T, Lluch-Belda D, Lluch-Cota SE, MacCall AD, Matsuura Y, Nevárez-Martínez MO, Parrish RH, Roy C, Serra R, Shust KV, Ward MN, Zuzunaga JZ (1999) Worldwide large-scale fluctuations of sardine and anchovy populations. S Afr J Mar Sci. 21: 289–347
- Sepúlveda M, Pérez MJ, Sielfeld W, Oliva D, Durán LR, Rodríguez L, Buscaglia M (2007) Operational interaction between South American sea lions *Otaria flavescens* and artisanal (small-scale) fishing in Chile: Results from interview surveys and on-board observations. Fisheries Research. 83(2): 332-340
- Sepúlveda M, Olea D, Carrasco P, Santos-Carvello M, Castillo J, Quiñones R (2014) Latitudinal variation in local productivity influences body condition of South American sea lion pups. Aquatic Biology. 23: 39-47
- Soto KH, Trites AW, and Arias-Schreiber M (2004) The effects of prey availability on pup mortality and the timing of birth of South American sea lions (*Otaria flavescens*) in Peru. Journal of Zoology. 264(4): 419-428
- Soto KH, Trites AW, Arias-Schreiber M (2006) Changes in diet and maternal attendance of South American sea lions indicate changes in the marine environment and prey abundance. Marine Ecology Progress Series. 312: 277-290
- Stevens M, Boness D (2003) Influences of habitat features and human disturbance on use of breeding sites by a declining population of southern fur seals (*Arctocephalus australis*). Journal of Zoology. 260: 145-152

- Strub PT, Mesías J, Montecino V, Rutllant J, Salinas S (1998) Coastal ocean circulation off western South America, In: Robinson AR, Brink KH (eds) The Sea (vol. 11). John Wiley, Hoboken, NJ. p 273-313
- Sulca J, Takahashi K, Espinoza JC, Vuille M, Waldo L (2017) Impacts of differen ENSO flavors and tropical Pacific convection variability (ITCZ, SPCZ) on austral summer rainfall in South America, with a focus on Peru. International Journal of Climatology.
- Sverdrup HU (1938) On the process of upwelling. J Mar Res. 1: 155-164
- Sydeman WJ, Hobson KA, Pyle P, McLaren EB (1997) Trophic relationships among seabirds in Central California: combined stable isotope and conventional dietary approach. The Condor. 99: 327-336
- Tam J, Taylor MH, Blaskovic V, Espinoza P, Ballón RM, Díaz E, Wosnitza-Mendo C, Argüelles J, Purca S, Ayón P, Quipuzcoa L, Gutiérrez D, Goya E, Ochoa N, Wolff M (2008) Trophic modeling of the Northern Humboldt Current Ecosystem, Part I: Comparing trophic linkages under La Nina and El Nino conditions. Progress in Oceanography. 79: 352-365
- Tarazona J, Arntz W (2001) The Peruvian Coastal Upwelling System, Coastal Mar. Ecosyst. Latin Am. 144: 229-244
- Taylor MH, Wolff M (2007) Trophic modeling of Eastern Boundary Current Systems: a review and prospectus for solving the "South American Puzzle". Revista Peruana de Biologia. 14(1): 87-100
- Taylor MH, Wolff M, Mendo J, Yamashiro C (2008) Changes in trophic flow structure of Independence Bay (Peru) over an ENSO cycle. Progress in Oceanography. 79(2): 336-351
- Torres D (1985) Presencia del lobo fino sudamericano (Arctocephalus australis) en el norte de Chile, como consecuencia de El Niño. 1982-1983. Investigaciones Pesqueras (Chile). 32: 225-233
- Trenberth K (2016) The Climate Data Guide: Nino SST Indices (Nino 1+2, 3, 3.4, 4; ONI and TNI). National Center for Atmospheric Research Staff (eds) Retrieved from http://climatedataguide.ucar.edu/climate-data/nino-sst-indices-nino-12-3-34-4-oni-and-tni
- Trenberth KE, Branstator GW, Karoly D, Kumar A, Lau N, Ropelewski C (1998) Progress during TOGA in understanding and modelling global teleconnections associated with tropical sea surface temperatures. J. Geophys. Res. 103(C7): 14291-14324

- Trenberth KE, Stepaniak DP (2001) Indices of El Nino evolution. Journal of Climate 14: 1697-1701
- Trillmich F, Kooyman G, Majluf P, Sanchez-Griñan M (1986) Attendance and Diving Behavior of South American Fur Seals during El Niño in 1983. In: Gentry R. & Kooyman G. (Eds.). Fur Seals: Maternal Strategies on Land and at Sea. Princeton University Press. p. 153-167
- Trillmich F (1990) The behavioral ecology of maternal effort in fur seals and sea lions. Behaviour. 114: 3-20
- Trillmich F, Ono KO (1991) Pinnipeds and El Niño: Responses to environmental stress. Springer, Berlin, Germany.
- Trillmich F, Kooyman GL, Majluf P, Sanchez-Grinan M (1986) Attendance and diving behavior of South American fur seals during El Nino in 1983. In: Gentry RL and Kooyman GL (eds) Fur Seals: Maternal Strategies on Land and at Sea. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ. p 153-167
- Túnez JI, Centron D, Cappozzo HL, Cassini MH (2007) Geographic distribution and diversity of mitochondrial DNA haplotypes in South American sea lions (Otaria flavescens) and fur seals (Arctocephalus australis). Mammalian Biology. 72: 193-203
- Vales D, Cardona L, García N, Zenteno L, Crespo E (2015) Ontogenetic dietary changes in male South American fur seals Arctocephalus australis in Patagonia. Marine Ecology Progress Series. (525): 245–260
- Vargas G, Pantoja S, Rutllant J, Lange C, Ortlieb L (2007) Enhancement of coastal upwelling and interdecadal ENSO-like variability in the Peru-Chile Current since late 19th century. Geophysical Research Letters. 34: L13607
- Vasquez P (1995) Determinacion de los habitos alimentarios de Arctocephalus australis y Otaria byronia en Punta San Juan de Marcona, Ica, Peru. MSc. thesis, Universidad Nacional Agraria La Molina, Lima.
- Vaz-Ferreira R (1975) Behavior of the Southern Sea Lion *Otaria flavescens* (Shaw) in the Uruguayan Islands. Reun. Cons. Int. Explor. Mer. 169: 219-227
- Vaz-Ferreira R (1982a) Arctocephalus australis Zimmermann, South American fur seal. Mammals in the Seas, Vol. IV: Small cetaceans, seals, sirenians and otters, FAO Fisheries (Ser. 5). p 497-508
- Vaz-Ferreira R (1982b) Otaria flavescens (Shaw, 1800), South American sea lion. Mammals in the Seas, Vol. IV: Small cetaceans, seals, sirenians and otters, FAO Fisheries (Ser. 5). p 477-495

- Walker JL, Potter CW, Macko SA (1999) The diets of modern and historic bottlenose dolphin populations reflected through stable isotopes. Marine Mammal Science. 15(2): 335-350
- Waluda CM, Yamashiro C, Rodhouse PG (2006) Influence of the ENSO cycle on the light-fishery for *Dosidicus gigas* in the Peru Current: an analysis of remotely sensed data. Fisheries Research. 79(1): 56-63
- Wang C, Fiedler PC (2006) ENSO variability and the eastern tropical Pacific: a review. Progress in Oceanography. 69(2): 239-266
- Webber D, Stewart B, Lehman N (2004) Genetic consequences of severe population bottleneck in the Guadalupe fur seal (*Arctocephalus townsendii*). Journal of Heredity. 95: 144-153
- Weise MJ, Costa DP, Kudela RM (2006) Movement and diving behavior of male California sea lion (*Zalophus californianus*) during anomalous oceanographic conditions of 2005 compared to those of 2004. Geographical Research Letters. 33(L22S10): 1-6
- Womble JN, Blundell GM, Gende SM, Horning M, Sigler MF, Csepp DJ (2014) Linking marine predator diving behavior to local prey fields in contrasting habitats in a subarctic glacial fjord. Marine Biology. 161(6): 1361-1374
- Wooster WS, Reid JL (1963) Eastern boundary currents. In: Hill MN (ed) The Sea (vol. 2). New York: Interscience Pub. p 253–280
- Yu JY, Lau KM (2004) Contrasting Indian Ocean SST variability with and without ENSO influence: A coupled atmosphere-ocean GCM study. Meteor. Atmos. Phys. 90: 179-191
- Zavalaga C, Paredes R, Arias-Schreiber M (1998) Dieta del lobo fino (*Arctocephalus australis*) y del lobo chusco (*Otaria byronia*) en la costa sur del Peru, en Febrero de 1998. Informe Progresivo del Instituto del Mar del Peru. 79: 3-16
- Zenteno L, Borella F, Gómez Otero J, Piana E, Belardi JB, Borrero LA, Saporiti F, Cardona L, Crespo EA (2015) Shifting niches of marine predator's due to human exploitation: the diet of the South American sea lion (*Otaria flavescens*) since the late Holocene as a case study. Paleobiology. 41(3): 387-401

Appendix

Appendix A: Sea Surface Temperature Plots and Tables Appendix B: Vibrissae Plots (Peruvian Fur Seal) Appendix C: Vibrissae Plots (South American Sea Lion) Appendix D: Vibrissae Tables

Appendix A: Sea Surface Temperature Plots and Tables Table 3. Monthly Sea Surface Temperature Averages from Nino Index 1+2 Region (Years 2000 to 2016). Blue=cold phase ENSO, Red=warm phase ENSO (NOAA_ERSST_V5 data provided by the NOAA/OAR/ESRL PSD).

YEAR	JAN	FEB	MAR	APR	MAY	JUN	JUL	AUG	SEPT	OCT	NOV	DEC
2000	-0.74	-0.54	-0.40	0.03	-0.24	-0.27	-0.25	-0.58	-0.24	-0.31	-1.23	-1.03
2001	-0.61	-0.40	0.24	0.25	-0.55	-0.73	-0.55	-0.85	-1.14	-1.17	-0.93	-1.09
2002	-0.76	0.01	0.84	0.89	0.78	0.50	-0.20	-0.27	0.19	0.34	0.93	1.03
2003	0.15	-0.04	0.00	-0.49	-1.49	-1.24	-0.98	0.00	-0.46	0.20	0.24	0.15
2004	-0.19	0.02	-0.67	-0.50	-1.44	-0.96	-0.75	-0.75	-0.28	0.11	0.67	0.29
2005	0.00	-0.86	-1.39	-0.35	-0.23	-0.66	-0.32	-0.41	-0.75	-1.30	-1.47	-1.00
2006	-0.35	0.30	-0.22	-1.43	-0.40	-0.10	0.23	0.69	0.96	1.02	0.75	0.64
2007	0.68	0.19	-0.57	-1.16	-1.63	-1.49	-0.95	-1.21	-0.98	-1.55	-1.77	-1.73
2008	-0.46	-0.30	0.46	0.48	0.69	0.67	1.02	1.39	1.01	0.32	-0.32	-0.53
2009	-0.15	-0.60	-0.74	0.48	0.50	0.77	0.78	0.83	0.50	0.29	0.29	0.53
2010	0.30	0.20	0.14	-0.04	0.39	0.13	-1.00	-1.32	-1.23	-1.32	-1.35	-0.98
2011	-0.46	-0.07	-0.81	-0.13	0.27	0.41	0.13	-0.22	-0.75	-0.81	-0.61	-0.75
2012	-0.16	0.44	0.23	0.97	1.03	1.13	0.43	0.06	0.05	-0.40	-0.45	-0.92
2013	-0.66	-0.65	-0.60	-1.16	-1.43	-1.79	-1.57	-1.17	-0.78	-0.78	-0.60	-0.51
2014	0.02	-0.53	-0.24	0.04	1.22	1.66	1.01	0.88	0.79	0.66	0.76	0.34
2015	-0.13	-0.45	0.16	1.07	1.70	2.31	2.57	1.64	2.27	2.09	2.23	2.14
2016	1.81	1.38	1.42	0.52	0.64	0.76	0.28	0.23	0.56	0.31	0.08	0.35



Figure A-1. Sea surface temperature versus sea surface temperature anomaly (°C) from 1+2 Nino index, 2004-2016 (NOAA_ERSST_V5 data provided by the NOAA/OAR/ESRL PSD).





Figure B-1. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA1002), 2010.



Figure B-2. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA1003), 2010.



Figure B-3. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1006), 2010.



Figure B-4. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1008), 2010.



Figure B-5. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1010), 2010.



Figure B-6. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1012), 2010.



Figure B-7. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1014), 2010



Figure B-8. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1016), 2010.



Figure B-9 Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1018), 2010.



Figure B-10. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1020), 2010.



Figure B-11. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1022), 2010.



Figure B-12 Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1024), 2010.



Figure B-13. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1026), 2010.



Figure B-14. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1028), 2010.


Figure B-15. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA1030), 2010.



Figure B-16. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta13C$ and $\delta15N$ (AA1032), 2010.



Figure B-17. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1034), 2010.



Figure B-18. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1036), 2010.



Figure B-19. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA1038), 2010.



Figure B-20. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1040), 2010.



Figure B-21. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1042), 2010.



Figure B-22. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1044), 2010.



Figure B-23. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1046), 2010.



Figure B-24. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA1048), 2010.



Figure B-25. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1050), 2010.



Figure B-26. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1052), 2010.



Figure B-27. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1054), 2010.



Figure B-28. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA1056), 2010.



Figure B-29. Subadult male Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA11-01), 2011.



Figure B-30. Subadult male Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA11-03), 2011.



Figure B-31. Subadult male Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA11-05), 2011.



Figure B-32. Subadult male Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA11-07), 2011.



Figure B-33. Subadult male Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA11-08), 2011.



Figure B-34. Subadult male Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA11-09), 2011.



Figure B-35. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA11-19), 2011.



Figure B-36. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA11-22), 2011.



Figure B-37. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA11-23), 2011.



Figure B-38. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA11-30), 2011.



Figure B-39. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA11-31), 2011.



Figure B-40. Adult female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA11-34), 2011.



Figure B-41. Subadult male Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1201), 2012.



Figure B-42. Subadult male Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1202), 2012.



Figure B-43. Subadult male Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA1203), 2012.



Figure B-44. Subadult male Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1204), 2012.



Figure B-45. Subadult male Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1205), 2012.



Figure B-46. Adult Female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA1206), 2012.



Figure B-47. Adult Female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1220), 2012.

131



Figure B-48. Adult Female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1230), 2012.



Figure B-49. Adult Female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA1232), 2012.

133



Figure B-50. Adult Female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA1236), 2012.


Figure B-51. Adult Female Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1240), 2012.

135



Figure B-52. Adult Female (Dam) Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA15-12), 2015.



Figure B-53. Pup of (Dam AA15-12) Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA15-12P), 2015.



Figure B-54. Adult Female (Dam) Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA1513), 2015.



Figure B-55. Pup of (Dam AA1513) Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1513P), 2015



Figure B-56. Adult Female (Dam) Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1515), 2015.



Figure B-57. Pup of (Dam AA1515) Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1515P), 2015



Figure B-58. Adult Female (Dam) Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA1516), 2015.



Figure B-59. Pup of Dam 1516 sampled in 2015. Pup of (Dam AA1516) Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA1516P), 2015



Figure C-60. Adult Female (Dam) Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA1517), 2015.



Figure B-61. Pup of (Dam AA1517) Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA1517P), 2015



Figure B-62. Adult Female (Dam) Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA1518), 2015



Figure B-63. Pup of (Dam AA1518) Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA1518P), 2015



Figure B-64. Adult Bull male Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA16-01), 2016.



Figure B-65. Adult Bull male Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA16-02), 2016.



Figure B-66. Adult Bull male Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA16-03), 2016.



Figure B-67. Adult Bull male Peruvian fur seal vibrissae $\delta^{13}C$ and $\delta^{15}N$ (AA16-04), 2016.

151



Figure B-68. Adult Bull male Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA16-05), 2016.



Figure B-69. Adult Bull male Peruvian fur seal vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (AA16-06), 2016.

Appendix C: Vibrissae Plots (South American Sea Lion)



Figure C-1.Subadult South American sea lion vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (OF11-02), 2011.



Figure C-2. Subadult South American sea lion vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (OF11-03), 2011.



Figure C-3 Subadult South American sea lion vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (OF11-04), 2011.



Figure C-4. Subadult South American sea lion vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (OF11-05), 2011.



Figure C-5. Subadult South American sea lion vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (OF11-07), 2011.



Figure C-6. Subadult South American sea lion vibrissae δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (OF11-10), 2011.

Appendix D: Vibrissae Tables Table 4. Minimum, maximum, range, and mean δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (‰) in Peruvian fur seal (*Arctocephalus australis* unnamed ssp.) vibrissae, Punta San Juan, Peru, 2010-2016. Gender (Male=M, Female=F, Unknown =UNK) and Age (Adult=AD, Pup=PUP).

Individual	Year	Gender	Age	Min δ ¹³ C	Max δ ¹³ C	Range δ ¹³ C	x δ ¹³ C	Min δ ¹⁵ N	Max δ^{15} N	Range δ ¹⁵ N	$x \delta^{15} N$
AA 1002	2010	F	AD	-14.97	-14.02	0.95	-14.44	15.83	19.95	4.12	18.87
AA 1003	2010	F	AD	-14.84	-13.61	1.23	-14.23	17.09	19.87	2.78	18.49
AA 1006	2010	F	AD	-15.35	-13.77	1.58	-14.38	17.58	20.85	3.27	19.29
AA 1008	2010	F	AD	-14.87	-13.71	1.16	-14.16	17.26	20.13	2.87	18.70
AA 1010	2010	F	AD	-15.50	-13.67	1.83	-14.19	17.81	20.49	2.68	19.11
AA 1012	2010	F	AD	-15.12	-13.96	1.16	-14.65	17.76	21.55	3.79	19.74
AA 1014	2010	F	AD	-15.28	-13.80	1.48	-14.25	17.15	19.98	2.83	18.61
AA 1016	2010	F	AD	-15.22	-14.03	1.19	-14.48	17.42	19.61	2.19	18.68
AA 1018	2010	F	AD	-14.12	-13.76	0.36	-14.12	18.50	20.43	1.93	19.36
AA 1020	2010	F	AD	-15.02	-14.09	0.93	-14.54	17.26	19.65	2.39	18.91
AA 1022	2010	F	AD	-15.07	-13.66	1.41	-14.19	17.47	19.68	2.21	18.84
AA 1024	2010	F	AD	-15.47	-14.03	1.44	-14.44	17.26	19.95	2.69	18.79
AA 1026	2010	F	AD	-14.74	-13.78	0.96	-14.28	17.47	19.75	2.28	18.81
AA 1028	2010	F	AD	-14.69	-13.91	0.78	-14.35	17.41	20.03	2.62	19.08
AA 1030	2010	F	AD	-15.51	-14.02	1.49	-14.60	17.44	20.78	3.34	19.04
AA 1032	2010	F	AD	-14.53	-13.77	0.76	-14.19	17.58	19.96	2.38	18.87
AA 1034	2010	F	AD	-14.22	-13.73	0.49	-13.97	16.17	18.12	1.95	17.40
AA 1036	2010	F	AD	-14.58	-13.87	0.71	-14.19	18.48	20.30	1.82	19.38
AA 1038	2010	F	AD	-15.11	-14.01	1.10	-14.43	17.31	19.91	2.60	18.45
AA 1040	2010	F	AD	-15.52	-13.80	1.72	-14.37	17.35	19.74	2.39	18.55
AA 1042	2010	F	AD	-14.86	-14.06	0.80	-14.46	17.91	20.19	2.28	19.31
AA 1044	2010	F	AD	-16.00	-13.74	2.26	-14.36	17.43	20.26	2.83	18.97
AA 1046	2010	F	AD	-16.54	-14.06	2.48	-14.74	18.02	20.48	2.46	19.39

Table 4. Continued.

Individual	Year	Gender	Age	Min δ ¹³ C	Max δ ¹³ C	Range δ ¹³ C	x δ ¹³ C	Min δ ¹⁵ N	Max δ ¹⁵ N	Range δ ¹⁵ N	$X \delta^{15} N$
AA 1048	2010	F	AD	-14.91	-13.83	1.08	-14.35	17.54	20.12	2.58	18.97
AA 1050	2010	F	AD	-14.48	-13.59	0.89	-14.09	17.60	19.97	2.37	19.01
AA 1052	2010	F	AD	-15.10	-13.24	1.86	-13.78	17.94	20.07	2.13	19.22
AA 1054	2010	F	AD	-14.78	-13.30	1.48	-13.96	17.65	20.40	2.75	19.07
AA 1056	2010	F	AD	-14.69	-13.42	1.27	-13.83	16.86	19.45	2.59	18.16
AA 1058	2010	F	AD	-14.23	-13.19	1.04	-13.64	17.72	20.92	3.20	18.87
AA1101	2011	Μ	AD	-14.37	-13.29	1.08	-13.73	19.10	21.13	2.03	20.30
AA1103	2011	Μ	AD	-14.75	-13.68	1.07	-14.04	18.73	20.90	2.17	19.88
AA1105	2011	Μ	AD	-14.58	-13.17	1.41	-13.57	18.96	20.99	2.03	20.15
AA1107	2011	Μ	AD	-14.01	-13.57	0.44	-14.01	19.72	21.69	1.97	20.64
AA1108	2011	Μ	AD	-14.82	-13.30	1.52	-13.73	18.28	21.75	3.47	20.49
AA1109	2011	Μ	AD	-14.80	-13.48	1.32	-13.90	18.08	20.99	2.91	19.84
AA1119	2011	F	AD	-15.64	-13.92	1.72	-14.36	17.93	20.80	2.87	19.23
AA1122	2011	F	AD	-15.72	-14.53	1.19	-14.53	17.74	20.42	2.68	19.07
AA1123	2011	F	AD	-15.14	-13.21	1.93	-14.02	16.42	20.61	4.19	18.70
AA1130	2011	F	AD	-15.22	-13.88	1.34	-14.39	17.49	20.52	3.03	19.09
AA1131	2011	F	AD	-14.86	-13.97	0.89	-14.41	16.89	19.84	2.95	18.54
AA1134	2011	F	AD	-15.53	-13.82	1.71	-14.25	16.48	20.17	3.69	18.54
AA1201	2012	Μ	AD	-15.77	-13.70	2.07	-14.11	18.16	21.85	3.69	20.03
AA1202	2012	Μ	AD	-14.58	-13.46	1.12	-13.93	18.91	22.27	3.36	20.76
AA1203	2012	Μ	AD	-15.18	-13.61	1.57	-14.04	17.90	21.16	3.26	19.76
AA1204	2012	Μ	AD	-14.47	-13.23	1.24	-13.78	18.65	21.80	3.15	20.55
AA1205	2012	Μ	AD	-14.02	-13.34	0.68	-13.68	17.65	22.31	4.66	20.22
AA1206	2012	F	AD	-14.07	-13.63	0.44	-14.07	16.88	20.82	3.94	19.33
AA1220	2012	F	AD	-15.45	-14.03	1.42	-14.60	17.65	21.37	3.72	19.70
AA1230	2012	F	AD	-15.17	-13.80	1.37	-14.35	17.11	20.67	3.56	19.09

Table 4. Continued.

Individual	Year	Gender	Age	Min δ ¹³ C	Max δ ¹³ C	Range δ ¹³ C	x δ ¹³ C	Min δ ¹⁵ N	Max δ ¹⁵ N	Range δ ¹⁵ N	x δ ¹⁵ N
AA1232	2012	F	AD	-14.92	-13.92	1.00	-14.44	17.71	21.25	3.54	19.48
AA1236	2012	F	AD	-14.79	-13.88	0.91	-14.41	17.38	20.52	3.14	19.24
AA1240	2012	F	AD	-15.02	-13.77	1.25	-14.35	18.11	21.09	2.98	19.63
AA1512	2015	F	AD	-15.46	-14.24	1.22	-14.78	17.40	20.40	3.00	19.02
AA1512	2015	UNK	PUP	-15.10	-14.53	0.57	-14.79	18.00	19.44	1.44	18.64
AA1513	2015	F	AD	-14.97	-13.97	1.00	-14.49	17.22	19.75	2.53	18.61
AA1513	2015	UNK	PUP	-14.65	-14.11	0.54	-14.45	17.74	19.28	1.54	18.65
AA1515	2015	F	AD	-15.63	-14.28	1.35	-14.84	16.69	19.88	3.19	18.69
AA1515	2015	UNK	PUP	-15.72	-14.55	1.17	-14.97	18.03	19.27	1.24	18.62
AA1516	2015	F	AD	-15.42	-14.13	1.29	-14.63	16.71	19.74	3.03	18.53
AA1516	2015	UNK	PUP	-15.21	-14.60	0.61	-14.97	18.66	19.33	0.67	18.66
AA1517	2015	F	AD	-18.13	-14.53	3.60	-15.31	16.98	19.81	2.83	18.67
AA1517	2015	UNK	PUP	-15.21	-15.05	0.16	-15.21	17.90	18.87	0.97	18.37
AA1518	2015	F	AD	-15.16	-14.23	0.93	-14.67	17.03	20.51	3.48	18.63
AA1518	2015	UNK	PUP	-15.05	-14.18	0.87	-14.52	17.88	19.26	1.38	18.59
AA1601	2016	Μ	AD	-14.75	-13.28	1.47	-14.15	16.20	20.62	4.42	18.83
AA1602	2016	Μ	AD	-14.68	-13.60	1.08	-14.10	16.87	20.13	3.26	18.25
AA1603	2016	М	AD	-14.20	-13.52	0.68	-14.20	16.18	19.72	3.54	17.83
AA1604	2016	Μ	AD	-15.16	-13.88	1.28	-14.38	16.85	20.68	3.83	19.07
AA1605	2016	Μ	AD	-14.98	-13.96	1.02	-14.44	16.49	20.45	3.96	18.81
AA1606	2016	М	AD	-14.36	-13.84	0.52	-14.36	16.94	20.60	3.66	18.83

Table 5. Minimum, maximum, range, and mean of δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N (‰) in South American sea lion (*Otaria byronia*) vibrissae, Punta San Juan, Peru, 2011. Gender: Male=M, Age: SA=Subadult

Individual	Year	Gender	Age	Min δ13C	Max δ ¹³ C	Range δ ¹³ C	x δ ¹³ C	Min δ ¹⁵ N	Max δ ¹⁵ N	Range δ ¹⁵ N	x δ15N
OF11-02	2011	Μ	SA	-14.35	-12.89	1.46	-13.50	16.66	22.82	6.16	20.15
OF11-03	2011	Μ	SA	-14.21	-13.07	1.14	-13.46	18.49	22.28	3.79	20.09
OF11-04	2011	Μ	SA	-13.85	-12.86	0.99	-13.29	18.98	21.70	2.72	20.58
OF11-05	2011	Μ	SA	-13.76	-12.77	0.99	-13.19	18.20	21.01	2.81	20.23
OF11-07	2011	Μ	SA	-14.09	-13.22	0.87	-13.64	17.92	21.76	3.84	20.15
OF11-10	2011	Μ	SA	-14.38	-12.81	1.57	-13.49	15.95	21.30	5.35	19.15